A GUIDE TO

# Leaving Cert English Higher Level, 2026





# **Table of Contents**

# **One: The Leaving Certificate in Context**

The CAO Some LC Statistics How and When to Apply for a Third Level Course Calculation of Grades from Marks in LC English Calculation of Points from Grades in LC Subjects Qualification Levels in the Irish Education System Points Required for Degree (level 8) Courses in Ireland	02 04 04 05 07
Two: Leaving Cert English	
What Examiners are Looking for; PCLM Five Genres of language Use; IPANA	12 14
Three: Prescribed Material, 2026	
The Single Text; Section I of Paper 1 The Comparative Study; Section II of Paper 2 Poetry; Section III of Paper 2	17 18 21
Four: Studying for LC English Exams	
The Learn-by-Writing Component of your Studies The Importance of Prewriting The Basic Structure of an Essay A Prewriting Method for Essays and Exam Answers	25 25 26 36
Five: Studying for Paper 1	
Section I - Comprehending Question A Format Features of Informative Language Features of Persuasive Language Features of Argumentative Language	41 44 45 46

Features of Narrative Language	47
Features of Aesthetic Language	48
Genres Combined	49
Question B Format	49

# Section II - Composing

Persuasive and Argumentative Essays	56
What is Asked for in Section II - Composing	58
Writing Style for a Short Story	58
Writing Style for a Personal Essay	62
Writing Style for a Speech or Talk	64
Writing Style for a Newspaper/ Magazine Article	66
Writing Style for a Discursive Essay	68
Writing Style for a Descriptive Essay	70

# Six: Answering Paper 1

Paper 1 Marking Scheme and Timing	73
Choosing your Questions, Section I - Comprehending	74
Answering A(i)	75
Answering A(ii)	76
Answering A(iii)	77
Answering Question B	78
Writing your Essay, Section II - Composing	79

# Seven: Studying for Paper 2

Planning your Study of the Single Text	81
What you are Looking for in the Text	81
Studying the Single Text	82
Planning your Study of the Comparative Study Texts	85
What you are Looking for in the Texts	85
Bringing the Three Texts Together	88
The Prescribed Poetry; Choosing which poets to study	95
Getting to know the poems; the What and the How	95
Studying the LC Poems	97
The Format of the Prescribed Poetry Question	103
Prewriting the Unseen Poem Answer	106
The Unseen Poem Questions	106

# Eight: Answering Paper 2

Marking Scheme and Recommended Timing	
Argumentation/ Objectivity in Paper 2	111
Section I, The Single Text	112
Section II, The Comparative Study	114
Section III, Question 1, The Unseen Poem	115
Section III, Question 2, The Prescribed Poetry	115



# For lessons online on Leaving Cert English:



# One: The Leaving Cert in Context

The Leaving Cert in Context

### The CAO

Leaving cert students have an opportunity to apply for courses they would like to begin when they have finished their exams. The Central Applications Office (CAO) is the organisation that makes this possible; it processes applications for places at third level institutions in the Republic of Ireland. Applications can be made online or by post.

https://www.cao.ie/

## **Some LC Statistics**

Between 55,000 and 60,000 students sit the leaving cert exams each year:

2024: 56,787 2023: 58,006 2022: 58,056 2021: 57,952

Statistics from the CAO show most students scoring from 400 to 499 points:

Points	Student Numbers	% Students
625	923	1.6
600 - 624	1,813	3.2
500 - 599	10,988	19.3
400 - 499	16,020	28.2
300 - 399	13,683	24.1
200 - 299	7,844	13.8
100 - 199	3,613	6.4
> 100	1,903	3.4

#### 2024:

Total:

56,787

20	22	
20	20	۰.

Points	Student Numbers	% Students
625	952	1.6
600 - 624	1,848	3.2
500 - 599	11,378	19.6
400 - 499	15,852	27.3
300 - 399	13,902	24.0
200 - 299	8,233	14.2
100 - 199	4,022	6.9
> 100	1,819	3.1

Total:

58,006

2022:

Points	Student Numbers % Students	
625	1,122	1.9
600 - 624	2,083	3.6
500 - 599	11,353	19.6
400 - 499	15,367	26.5
300 - 399	13,667	23.5
200 - 299	8,466	14.6
100 - 199	4,083	7.0
> 100	1,915	3.3

Total:

~

# How and When to Apply for a Third Level Course

To ensure that you will be considered for a place on a third level course, you need to make an application through the CAO by **1st February** (17:00) in the year of your LC exams. Late applications, in some circumstances, are accepted up to 1st May (17:00). You are not allowed to make more than one application in any given year. Applications open in **November** of the year before you do your LC exams. If you want to begin third level in 2025, then, you would need to submit your application between **November 2024** and **1st February**, **2026**.

CAO Handbook with lists of available courses and information about the application process:

#### https://www.cao.ie/handbook.php

You can make your application on-line through the CAO website:

https://www.cao.ie/

# Calculation of Grades from Marks in LC English

The grade you obtain in English in the Leaving Cert would be finalised by calculating the percentage of marks you scored over the two papers. English is allocated a total of 400 marks: 200 for Paper 1, and 200 for Paper 2. This percentage would then be valued in terms of the points system used to determine eligibility for third level courses.

#### Example:

If you scored 280 out of a possible 400 marks across both papers, you would have a score of 70 percentage marks ( $(280/400) \times 100$ ). This would give you a H3 grade at higher level and a O3 grade at Ordinary level.

Grades are referred to in abbreviated form; Higher Level are prefixed with "H," and grades at Ordinary Level are prefixed with "O".

The grade in the example above is **highlighted** below on the table showing distribution according to percentage marks:

Grade	% Marks	
H1/01	90 - 100	
H2/O2	80 < 90	
H3/O3	70 < 80	
H4/O4	60 < 70	
H5/05	50 < 60	
H6/06	40 < 50	
H7/07	30 < 40	
H8/08	0 < 30	

**Note:** 70 < 80 means any score from 70 up to 79; more than 69 and less than 80.

# **Calculation of Points from Grades in LC Subjects**

The CAO awards points by taking scores from the **six subjects** in which you have scored highest in your exams.

Points from Grades across Ordinary Level (OL) and Higher Level (HL) are shown on the table below. You will note that a maximum of **56 points** can be scored at Ordinary Level; an **O1** is equivalent to a **H5**.

#### The Leaving Cert in Context

HL Grade	Points	OL Grade	Points
H1	100		
H2	88		
НЗ	77		
H4	66		
H5	56	01	56
H6	46	02	46
H7	37	03	37
H8	0	04	28
		05	20
		06	12
		07	0
		08	0

You can calculate points from grades with the Qualifax points calculator:

https://www.qualifax.ie/points-calculator

# **Qualification Levels in the Irish Education System**

There are 10 levels of qualification in Ireland. The scale they constitute is referred to as the National Framework of Qualifications (NFQ).

The kinds of qualifications in question include those rewarded at second level, such as the Leaving Cert. At third level, they are the qualifications awarded for courses completed successfully at recognised institutions.

The framework guarantees that qualifications are valued as they should be nationally and internationally.

# Second Level; School Studies (1 to 5)

Junior Certificate:

Level 1 Certificate Level 2 Certificate Level 3 Certificate Leaving Certificate:

Level 4 Certificate Level 5 Certificate

# Third Level; Undergraduate Studies (6 to 8)

Level 6: Advanced Certificate Level 7: Ordinary Bachelor Degree Level 8: Honours Bachelor Degree

# Fourth Level; Postgraduate Studies (9 and 10)

Level 9: Masters Degree or Postgraduate Diploma Level 10: Doctoral Degree or Higher Doctorate

# Points Required for Degree (level 8) Courses in Ireland

The points for level 8 courses vary year by year according to the number of places available, and the number of applicants for those places.

<u>Qualifax</u> details how the points required to obtain a place in the degree (level 8) in Accounting & Finance at Dublin City University varied over a four year period: **2023:** 509

2023: 5092022: 5292021: 5442020: 510

It should be noted, also, that some courses will require higher scores than others in some subjects. You would need to have a high aptitude for mathematics to begin a degree in physics or engineering. If you were to study literature or history, on the other hand, that level would not be required but it would be an advantage or necessary to have scored well in LC English or History.

Taking some examples from Qualifax, here is a general idea of the kinds of points needed for a variety of level 8 courses in 2024:

#### Over 600:

Architecture, Technological University Dublin: 645 Interior Design, Technological University Dublin: 638 Dental Science, Trinity College Dublin: 625 Dentistry, University College Cork: 625 Pharmacy, University College Cork: 613

### 500 to 600:

Music, Cork School of Music: 600 Business Studies and French, Trinity College, Dublin: 564 Actuarial Mathematics, Dublin City University: 577 Business and Law, University College Dublin: 555 Art, ATU, Galway: 552 Computational Thinking, Maynooth University: 532 Mechanical Engineering, University of Galway: 532 Psychology, University of Galway: 531 Accounting and Finance, Dublin City University: 509 Architecture, University of Limerick: 511 Computer Science, University College Cork: 510 Philosophy, Trinity College, Dublin: 500

### 400 to 500:

AI and Machine Learning, University of Limerick: 498 Education (Primary Teaching), Mary Immaculate College: 497 Agricultural Science, University College Cork: 496 Biotechnology, University of Galway: 463 Law, Maynooth University: 462 Social Science, University College Cork: 445 Humanities, University College Dublin: 444 Applied Language & Translation Studies, Dublin City University: 442 Music, Trinity College Dublin: 442 Biotechnology, Maynooth University: 431 Journalism, University of Galway: 418 Languages, University of Limerick: 403 Communication Studies, Dublin City University: 400

### 300 to 400:

Journalism, Dublin City University: 388 Arts, English, University College Dublin: 378 IT Management, MTU Cork: 353 Business, TUS Limerick: 339 Architectural Technology, ATU Galway: 332 Agricultural Engineering, ATU Galway: 327 Hospitality Management, MTU Cork: 326 Creative Design, ATU Sligo: 323 Arts, English, Maynooth University : 310 Computer Science, ATU Donegal: 308 Architectural Technology, MTU Cork: 306 Agricultural Engineering, MTU Kerry: 301

### 200 to 300:

Veterinary Bioscience, MTU, Kerry: 300 Accounting, MTU, Cork: 293 Construction Management, Dundalk IT: 288 Business, ATU, Donegal: 282 Arts, Mary Immaculate College: 280 Sports Coaching and Performance, SETU, Waterford: 265 Business, SETU, Carlow: 260 Accounting and Finance, Griffith College, Dublin: 252 Community and Addiction Studies, TUS, Limerick: 235 Sports Science, TUC, Thurles: 219 Business, TU Dublin, Talaght: 211 Arts, SETU, Waterford: 210 The same degree at different institutions will not require the same points. Here are some comparisons in 2024:

A degree (level 8) in Early Childhood Care & Education: Mary Immaculate College, Limerick: 390 Technological University of the Shannon (TUS), Athlone : 263

# An Arts degree (level 8) in English: University College Dublin: 378 Maynooth University: 310

#### An open Arts degree (level 8) :

Mary Immaculate College: 280 University College Cork: 300 Dundalk Institute of Technology: 228

#### A degree (level 8) in Mechanical Engineering:

University of Galway: 532 TUS, Athlone: 309

#### A degree (level 8) in General Nursing:

University of Limerick: 423 Dundalk Institute of Technology: 380 University College Dublin: 403

# Two: Leaving Cert English



# What Examiners are Looking for; PCLM

Every year, the State Examinations Commission (SEC) publishes an outline of how Leaving Cert English exam answers are awarded grades. They detail how, in their words, 'the tasks [specified in exam questions] set for candidates in both Paper 1 and Paper 2' are assessed. For both Ordinary and Higher levels, they specify 4 criteria which can be remembered using the initials of their key words, **PCLM**:

1: (P) Clarity of Purpose, 30% of the marks available for the task:

A student's answer must show 'a clear and purposeful engagement'.

The article from the SEC gives more detail on the criteria in Appendix A. Clarity of Purpose can mean the answer has any of the following:

relevance, focus, originality, freshness, evidence of critical literacy (where appropriate), clear aim, understanding of genre

A summary of this criterion would observe that answers and essays must remain **clearly focussed on what is asked**. At any point in the answer/ essay, the reader should have a clear idea of how what he/ she is reading is **relevant**.

*Critical literacy* refers to the ability to speak or write critically about some subject, in particular, to uncover implicit meanings.

A student can demonstrate **critical literacy** effectively by using the terms established in the critical observation of that subject. In the case of **English studies**, this literacy will be evident in the language used in identifying, for example, genres of fiction (gothic novel, historical fiction...). In poetry, it would include the language used to analyse a text (stanza, end-rhyme, assonance...) in the critical process of bringing to light formal patterns in support of the observation of implicit meanings.

2: (C) Coherence of Delivery, 30% of the marks available for the task

This is described in the Appendix as follows:

Ability to sustain the response over the entire answer: Where appropriate: continuity of argument, sequencing, management of ideas, choice of reference, use of examples, engagement with texts, control of register and shape, creative modelling

What examiners are looking for here is evidence that the student is able to 'sustain the response in an appropriate manner over the entire answer'.

If a piece of writing is coherent, it will have been well planned. As a result, it will be clear in detail and overall meaning, with **all of its parts fitting together**. In a coherent answer to a Leaving Cert question, all of its parts - from words to paragraphs - are clear, and can be understood to make sense together as a whole.

In other words, just as each sentence should be coherent, there should also be overall coherence. In the latter, careful attention to **the structure of your answer** - moving clearly from introduction, through distinct topics, to conclusion - is vital. To ensure coherence of delivery, your study strategy should include practising **prewriting**; putting a plan of an answer on paper before you begin to write on the exam sheet.

Answering questions in Section I (Comprehending) in Paper 1, and all sections in Paper 2, if a student's writing is coherent, the points made will make sense in the paragraphs they are in; they will follow one another logically. The paragraphs, in turn, will be coherent within the whole.

Answers that are coherent overall will have the following:

- an **introduction** with a clear **thesis statement (in an argumentative answer)** or a statement of intent (in an essay question)

- **transitional words/ phrases** within a paragraph that signpost the direction of the argument form point to point; Firstly...Secondly...; On the other hand...; As a result...

- clear **transitions** between paragraphs using **topic sentences**. Discussion of a topic could have a number of points within it. The topic itself, and why it is of interest, should be **clearly stated as an introductory sentence** in the first paragraph discussing it.

- answers on literary texts in Paper 2, should **refer to** and, if possible, **quote** from the text in support of the points being made. More detail on these components of an answer/ essay in <u>chapter 4</u>.

In Section II - Composing, you will be asked to write a composition from a choice of options. The 6 most common ones are:

- 1: Short story
- 4: Newspaper/ Magazine Article

**5:** Discursive Essay

- 2: Personal Essay
- **3:** Speech/ Talk **6:** Descriptive Essay

In writing any of these, **structural coherence** will be essential. In most essays, the same **introduction-body paragraphs-conclusion** structure will be the logical one.

Even the short story option will likely have a similar three-part structure; a character is introduced in a setting, his/her character is explored in relation to some circumstance/ issue they face, and some resolution is (or is not found) that brings the story to a close. For more guidance on both papers, see chapters <u>five</u> (Paper 1) and <u>seven</u> (Paper 2).

3: (L) Efficiency of Language Use, 30% of the marks available for the task:

The examiner will be focussed on the extent which you can 'manage and **control language** appropriate to the task'. The appendix of the SEC guide elaborates:

vocabulary, syntax, sentence patterns, punctuation appropriate to the register, use of lively interesting phrasing, energy, style, fluency appropriate to the task

An answer will need to be written according to **what kind of language** is appropriate to the task at hand. The English syllabus identifies **five genres of language use** that students must be aware of; informative, persuasive, argumentative, narrative, aesthetic; a detailed look at these in the next section.

4: (M) Accuracy of Mechanics, 10% of the marks available for accuracy in spelling and grammar.

### **Five Genres of Language Use; IPANA**

The five genres of language that students must bear in mind can be memorised using the acronym, **IPANA**:

I: The language of Information: impersonal/ objective style; no "I"

**P:** The language of **P**ersuasion: "I" or "We"; a personal style can be used

A: The language of Argumentation: impersonal/objective style, little or no "I" N: Narrative Language: an objective (no "I") or subjective ('I") narrator

A: Aesthetic use of language as an art form; used in poetry, fiction, drama, descriptive prose

### Features/ Elements of IPANA:

For Paper 1, you will need to be able to identify any of these uses of language in the texts you are asked to comprehend in Section I. To answer question **A** (iii), you must be able to point out **'features'** or **'elements'** of any one or more of the five.

We need to be familiar with these if we are to be able to identify when one or more of the genres of writing are present in a text, and to be able to apply the appropriate style when asked to write a composition in Question B of Section 1, and the composition question in Section II. We will look at these features in detail in <u>chapter five</u>.

Which of these styles of language (IPANA) will be 'appropriate' will depend on whether you are **answering a question or writing an essay**, and whether the question asks you to include how you *feel* about the topic.

If you want your reader to agree with your point of view, there are two options. You can **persuade** them by appealing to them on an emotional level; persuasion aims at the `**heart'**. Your own feelings can be included.

In Paper 1, the '**speech**' or '**talk**' option is an example where persuasion can be what is needed; you could also have elements of narrative or aesthetic language in that kind of composition. A speech or talk could also be informative and include an argumentative component. These would lend support to the persuasive thrust of the speech.

If you want to win an **argument**, you use logic and reason; you appeal to the 'head'. If you are answering a question in Paper 2, you want to remove yourself personally from your answers because your feelings about the literary text you are discussing are not of value *unless* you are specifically asked for them. You will use language that is informative (I) and argumentative (A), and you will present evidence from the texts to support the points that build your overall argument.

More on persuasive and argumentative writing in chapter five.

# Three: Prescribed Material, 2026



# The Single Text; Section I of Paper 2 (60 marks)

Novel:

Author	Title	Pages	Words	Reading Time
Bronte, Anne (1820-1849)	The Tenant of Wildfell Hall (1848)	332	83,000	5 hrs, 32 mins
O'Farrell, Maggie (b. 1972)	Hamnet (2020)	320	80,000	5 hrs, 20 mins
Stoker, Bram (1847-1912)	Dracula (1897)	378	94,500	6 hrs, 18 mins

#### Drama:

Author	Title	Pages	Words	Reading Time
Miller, Arthur (1915-2005)	The Crucible (1953)	126	31,500	2 hrs
Shakespeare, William (1564-1616)	Macbeth (1623)	270	67,500	4 hrs, 30 mins

I have included word counts and reading times as estimated by the website Reading Length, and where each page is given an average count of 250 words. Their numbers are based on a reading speed of 250 words per minute, though it should be borne in mind that this is quite a bit faster than most people read. They have a facility on their site which allows you to estimate your reading speed:

#### https://www.readinglength.com/wpm

The website offers three levels of difficulty to test your speed: Elementary, Moderate (suitable for second level students), and Collegiate (for third level readers).

Whatever your reading speed is, if you are rushing through the text, you are wasting time. There are a number of things you can do to ensure you use your reading time efficiently. I recommend a strategy in <u>chapter seven</u>.

Realistically, since your attention will be quite focussed, and because you will be taking notes, your study time will be very much greater than your reading time. In planning study sessions, then, you should allow yourself **double the time** given in the reading times shown; 9 hours for *Macbeth*, for example.

# The Comparative Study; Section II of Paper 2 (70 marks)

#### **Comparative Modes:**

The three comparative modes chosen for the 2026 exam are:

- (i) Cultural Context
- (ii) General Vision and Viewpoint
- (iii) Literary Genre

#### Not included: Theme or issue

Novel:

Author	Title	Pages	Words	Reading Time
Adichie, Chimamanda Ngozi (b. 1977)	Purple Hibiscus (2003)	307	76, 750	5 hrs, 7 mins
Austen, Jane (1775-1817)	Pride and Prejudice (1813)	448	112,000	7 hrs, 28 mins
Barker, Pat (b. 1973)	The Silence of the Girls (2018)	336	84,000	5 hrs, 36 mins
Barrett, Colin (b. 1982)	Young Skins (2013)	224	56,000	3hrs, 40 mins
Bronte, Anne (1820-1849)	The Tenant of Wildfell Hall (1848)	332	83,000	5 hrs, 32 mins
Chandler, Raymond (1888-1959)	The Big Sleep (1939)	176	44,000	2 hrs, 56 mins
Doerr, Anthony (b. 1973)	All the Light We Cannot See (2014)	544	136,000	9 hrs, 4 mins
Du Maurier, Daphne (1907-1989)	Rebecca (1938)	380	95,000	6 hrs, 20mins
Garmus, Bonnie	Lessons in Chemistry (2022)	400	100,000	6 hrs, 36 mins

18

#### Novel:

Author	Title	Pages	Words	Reading Time
Hardy, Thomas (1840-1929)	The Mayor of Casterbridge (1886)	288	72,000	4hrs, 48 mins
Keegan, Claire (b. 1958)	Small Things Like These (2021)	128	32,000	2 hrs, 8 mins
McCormack, Mike (b. 1965)	Notes From A Coma (2005)	208	52,000	3 hrs, 30 mins
O'Farrell, Maggie (b. 1972)	Hamnet (2020)	320	80,000	5 hrs, 20 mins
Owens, Delia (b. 1949)	Where the Crawdads Sing (2018)	385	96,250	6 hrs, 25 mins
Pineiro, Claudia (b. 1960)	Elena Knows (2022)	173	43,250	2 hrs 50 mins
Rash, Ron (1953)	The Cove (2012)	256	64,000	4 hrs 30 mins
Stoker, Bram (1847-1912)	Dracula (1897)	378	94,500	6 hrs, 18 mins
Whitehead, Colson (b. 1969)	The Underground Railroad (2016)	338	84,500	5hrs, 30 mins

#### Memoir:

Author	Title	Pages	Words	Reading Time
Bui, Thi (b. 1975)	The Best We Could Do (2017)	327	81,750	5 hrs, 27 mins
Gregory, Tom	A Boy in the Water (2018)	192	48,000	3hrs, 12 mins

 $\wedge$ 

#### Prescribed Material, 2026

Drama:

Author	Title	Pages	Words	Reading Time
Carr, Marina (b. 1964)	Girl On An Altar (2022)	72	18,000	1 hr, 12 mins
Euripides (c.480 - c.406 BC)	Medea	72	18,000	1 hr, 12 mins
Hansberry, Lorraine (1930-1965)	A Raisin in the Sun (1959)	160	40,000	2 hrs 30 mins
Keane, John B. (1928-2002)	Sive (1959)	128	32,000	2 hrs, 8 mins
Mc Mahon, Phillip	Once Before I Go (2021)	120	30,000	2 hrs
Miller, Arthur (1915-2005)	The Crucible (1953)	126	31,500	2 hrs 6 mins
Shakespeare, William (1564-1616)	Macbeth The Merry Wives of Windsor	270 112	67,500 28,000	4 hrs, 30 mins 1 hr, 52 mins
Wade, Laura (b. 1977)	Colder Than Here (2005)	96	24,000	1 hr, 36 mins

#### Film:

Director	Title	Running Time
Anderson, Wes (b. 1969)	The Grand Budapest Hotel (2014)	1hr, 40 mins
Darabont, Frank (b. 1959)	The Shawshank Redemption (1994)	2hrs, 22 mins
Gamze Ergûven, Deniz (b. 1978)	Mustang (2015)	1hr, 37 mins
Gerwig, Greta (b. 1983)	Ladybird (2017)	1hr, 34 mins
Johnson, Rian (b. 1973)	Knives Out (2019)	2hrs, 10 mins
Kapadia, Asif (b. 1972)	Diego Maradona (2019)	2hrs, 10 mins
Kazan, Elia (1909-2003)	On the Waterfront (1954)	1hr, 48 mins
McDonagh, Martin (b. 1970)	The Banshees of Inisherin (2022)	1 hr, 54 mins

Poetry;	Section	III of	Paper	2	(70	marks)
---------	---------	--------	-------	---	-----	--------

Poet	Poems	Themes
Bishop, Elizabeth (1911-1979) 10 Poems	The Fish The Bight At the Fishhouses The Prodigal Questions of Travel The Armadillo Sestina First Death in Nova Scotia Filling Station In the Waiting Room	women's experience in 20th century patriarchy, travel, addiction, the creative process, childhood
Donne, john (1572-1631) 10 Poems	The Sunne Rising Song: Go, and catch a falling star The Anniversarie Song: Sweetest love, I do not goe The Dreame (Deare love, for nothing less than thee) A Valediction Forbidding Mourning The Flea Batter my heart At the round earth's imagined corners Thou hast made me	love, death, religion
Eliot, T.S. (1888-1965) 8 Poems	The Lovesong of J. Alfred Prufrock Preludes Aunt Helen from The Waste Land; II A Game of Chess Journey of the Magi from Landscapes; III Usk IV Rannoch, by Glencoe from Four Quartets: East Coker IV	modern society, spirituality, alienation, gender, death
Heaney, Seamus (1939-2013) 13 Poems	The Forge Bogland The Tollund Man Mossbawn: Two Poems in Dedication (1) Sunlight A Constable Calls The Skunk The Harvest Bow The Underground Postscript A Call Tate's Avenue The Pitchfork Lightenings <i>viii</i> (The annals say)	20th century Ireland and the past, identity, religious/ sectarian division, family, love and marriage, mortality, creativity

Poet	Poems	Themes
Meehan, Paula (b. 1955) 10 Poems	Buying Winkles The Pattern The Statue of the Virgin at Granard Speaks Cora, Auntie The Exact Moment I Became a Poet My Father Perceived as a Vision of St. Francis Hearth Lesson Prayer for the Children of Longing Death of a Field Them Ducks Died for Ireland	20th century Ireland, family, women's experience
Ní Chuilleanáin, Eiléan (b. 1942) 12 poems	Lucina Schynning in Silence of the Nicht The Second Voyage Deaths and Engines Street Fireman's Lift All for You Following Kilcash Translation The Bend in the Road On Lacking the Killer Instinct To Niall Woods and Xenya Ostrovskaia, married in Dublin on 9 September 2009	20th century Ireland, love, memory, history, death
Smith, Tracy K (b. 1972) 12 Poems	Joy (Elegy 1) Dominion over the beasts of the Earth The Searchers Letter to a Photojournalist Going In The Universe is a House Party The Museum of Obsolescence Don't you wonder, sometimes? It's Not The Universe as Primal Scream The Greatest Personal Privation I am 60 odd years of age - <i>from</i> I will tell you the truth about this, I will tell you all about it Ghazal	grief, adolescence, family, race

~

Poet	Poems	Themes
Yeats, William Butler (1865-1939) 13 Poems	The Lake Isle of Innisfree September 1913 The Wild Swans at Coole An Irish Airman Foresees his Death Easter 1916 The Second Coming Sailing to Byzantium From Meditations in Time of Civil War: VI, The Stare's Nest by My Window In Memory of Eva Gore-Booth and Con Markiewicz Swift's Epitaph An Acre of Grass from Under Ben Bulben: V and VI Politics	war and revolution, early 20th century Ireland, nature, creativity

~

# Four: Studying for LC English Exams



Before looking specifically at studying for Papers 1 and 2, some important general understanding of what is required should be observed.

# The learn-by-writing component of your studies:

Studying for any English exam, you must keep in mind that it is your *writing* that is going to determine what grade you get. Your study strategy, then, should be designed according to the need to learn, not simply by listening to your teacher, and through reading.

A crucial part of your study time should be dedicated to **the practise of writing**; answering **past exam questions** from Section I, Paper 1 (Comprehending) and Paper 2, and writing essays from Section II, Paper 1 (Composing). There must be, in other words, a **learn-by-writing** component to your strategy. This is why you are given assignments in school.

As much as time allows, however, you should also incorporate this practical component into your **personal study strategy**. Many students would prefer to think that when they have listened to their teacher explain a topic and/or have read about it in a book, they are ready to write about it. To some extent this is true, but if we want to be able to perfect something, we need to **practise** doing it as much as possible.

When we **practise writing**, we improve our ability to find the right words, to construct effective sentences, to organise coherent paragraphs. Overall, we become more efficient, more skilful writers, and when we sit down to take an exam, we are confident we are ready to answer any question.

# The Importance of Prewriting:

Picture the moment your English exam begins. You look through the questions for a few minutes. The importance of what you do next cannot be overstated. You choose the first question you want to answer, and you begin to gather your thoughts together in an organised manner **on paper**. This is called **prewriting**.

In the exam scenario, prewriting is particularly crucial given that, apart from a word or two, you will not have the time to rewrite what you commit to your answer sheet. You need to have already **prewritten** your answer/ essay by

laying it out so that the structure and notes you have included in it are there to guide you through your writing. We need, then, a clear **method of prewriting**; of how to organise those notes we begin taking when we have chosen a question to answer. We will devise one here by looking at the basic structure we use **writing an essay**, and adapt it, not just to prewriting the essay we write in Section II of Paper 1, but also any answer on either of the two papers.

## The Basic Structure of an Essay:

In Section II of **Paper 1**, you will be given a choice of writing one of a variety of kinds of essay which will be discussed in the chapters that follow. In **Paper 2**, most of what you will write in your answers to questions on fiction, plays, and poetry will necessarily be in **an argumentative style**; an objective (impersonal), formal style that seeks to **defend a thesis** (your point of view on the text) point-by-point through any combination of observation, explanation, analysis, reference/ quotation (if possible).

We will look here at the basic structure of an argumentative essay, and from it devise our method of **prewriting our answers** to any question in the LC exams. It will have **three parts**; an **introduction** in three parts, a **main section** or the "body" divided into paragraphs by topic, and **a conclusion** in two parts:

#### Introduction

- 1: Lead-in
- 2: Thesis Statement
- 3: Essay Map

#### **Body Paragraphs**

Each topic will have

1: A topic sentence

**2:** A coherent **defence** of the **thesis** point by point with supporting evidence, analysis, explanation, reference/ quotation

#### Conclusion

1: Summary Thesis Statement 2: Clincher

#### **Three Parts of an Introduction**

**The Lead-in:** As its name suggests, this part of an introduction *leads* the **reader into the essay** by giving some preliminary thoughts and/or information on the subject that are relevant to the subject.

In an essay on Shakespeare's sonnets, for example, the writer might give some background information; when they were written, what the main themes are, and so on. The **lead-in**, then, clarifies the direction in which the essay is going before it is made more specific in the **thesis statement** and **essay map**.

#### The Thesis Statement:

There needs to be a clear statement in the introduction of what the essay is going to argue. The argumentative essay is going to defend this thesis. The TS is usually a sentence or two but can be more.

It must *not* be a statement of fact since that is not something that can be argued. It must *not* be something obvious or something that is common **knowledge** like 'Shakespeare's *Macbeth* is a great play' because there will be nothing to argue in such a statement. Another common error in this TS is that it is **not specific enough**. The play is 'great' in what way? What aspect of the play is to be discussed?

The Essay Map: the introduction should inform the reader of what topics are going to be discussed in the body paragraphs. This "map" will clarify where the essay will "go". An EM in an essay on the poetry of Elizabeth Bishop will identify which poems will be discussed and briefly state why they are of interest. You will see this in the sample provided below.

## **The Body Paragraphs**

In a 5-paragraph essay, we will have a minimum of three paragraphs in the body of the essay. With three topics outlined in the EM, then, **one paragraph would be devoted to each**. When more lengthy discussion is required, of course, more than one paragraph can be used for a topic.

**Unity:** in order to preserve **a coherent argument**, only *one* topic is discussed at a time. Paragraphs on stated topics should not drift into other topics or discuss irrelevant details.

Studying for LC English Exams

**The topic sentence**: Each topic should be introduced in a sentence or two. This usually will be the **first sentence or two in the first paragraph** on that topic. For the sake of unity, **new topics** should **not be introduced** at the end of the last paragraph on the previous topic; they should be clarified in a new paragraph.

As well as making clear that a new topic is about to be discussed, the topic sentence can serve as a general statement of what is to be argued in the paragraph(s); **a mini thesis statement**, as it were. For example, here is the 2002 question on the poetry of Elizabeth:

"The poetry of Elizabeth Bishop appeals to the modern reader for many reasons." Write an essay in which you outline the reasons why poems by Elizabeth Bishop have this appeal.

With this kind of "statement" question you are **given the thesis** that your answer is to **defend;** in this case, that the poetry 'appeals to the modern reader for many reasons'.

In my sample answer below, I introduce my first topic, Bishop's poem, 'The Fish' with **three topic sentences**, stating why it is relevant to the discussion:

'Although not usually interpreted in Bishop's 'The Fish,' there is a strong feminist theme that **the modern reader** will be pleasantly surprised to see. Bishop centres the theme around what is meant by 'victory' in the poem. It can be seen to refer to the transcendence of the difference that would have women, and men for that matter, limit their place in the world based on gender alone'.

I can now plan to **defend** this (mini) thesis. In an exam, I would take notes in my **prewriting** of what points I would make to defend what I have claimed about this poem in these topic sentences:

- 1: the fish and the speaker's male/female roles are reversed
- 2: she speaker stares at the fish but he looks away; personification
- 3: the meaning of 'victory'; a victory over gender difference

**4:** the modern reader will appreciate the importance of the issue of gender bias

**5**: the poem is vivid in its descriptions; shows us the meaning rather than tells us

#### Studying for LC English Exams

With these **topic sentences**, the poem is introduced and the reader is clear about what to expect. The defence of the thesis is constructed in the body paragraphs point by point. The topic sentences not only make clear what the topic will be, but also reiterate what **the thesis of the essay/ answer** is. Each of the three points will now be made in support of the thesis in a **point-quotedefend** manner.

You may be familiar the with point-quote-*explain* formula. I prefer to use the word *defend* for an **argumentative** essay/ answer because it denotes more accurately what we are doing; presenting evidence from the text in order to *defend* the thesis stated in our introduction.

**The concluding sentence:** a sentence at the end of a paragraph reiterating a topic's relevance to the defence of the thesis. This is optional.

#### The Point-Quote-Defend formula:

The discussion, above all else, needs to be **coherent**. We noted in chapter 2 that the State Examinations Commission specifies that 30% of the marks given will be for **Coherence of delivery**; that students must be able to 'sustain the response in an appropriate manner over the entire answer'.

You can sustain coherence by repeating the point-quote-defend formula:

1: make a point; in the answers to questions in Paper 2, this should be something you want to **argue** that will be part of your overall defence of your thesis as stated in your introduction.

This, for example, as in the sample essay below, could be that Elizabeth Bishop articulates a feminist theme in 'The Fish' which will appeal to the modern reader. This would then be accompanied by evidence in the form of reference/ quotation, and brief discussion to **defend the point**.

**2: Reference/ Quotation:** you need to focus the reader's attention on the relevant part of **the text**. It is not always possible in an exam setting to quote, but that is not a problem; you are asked only for reference.

**3: Defence:** it is not enough to make your point; you must also **defend** the claim it makes. In the example of the Bishop's poem, you would discuss **how** she presents the eponymous fish anthropomorphically in order to suggest a reversal of the roles traditionally assigned to men and women by patriarchy.

4: Repeat the formula: You might make two or three other points to complete the paragraph(s) on the topic - in this case, a poem - being discussed. For a coherent argument, all of these together are components of your defence of your thesis. If you have made one point about Bishop's anthropomorphism, you could follow this up with an observation of some of the imagery she uses; a third point might highlight her use of metaphor.

Sometimes a question will ask you to **agree or disagree**, but the TS will be there in the question. It will be your job to answer by presenting evidence from **3 or 4 poems** using the **point-quote-defend formula** with 3 or 4 points on each poem preceded by one or more topic sentences.

Your **prewriting** for these answers will be based on the essay structure I am outlining here. Before you start writing on the answer sheet, you can have your answer **laid out in front of you**. Your prewriting will begin, then, by simply writing down **the headings** of these parts that make up a basic essay; **Introduction** with its three parts (Lead-in, TS, EM), **Body Paragraphs**, **Conclusion** (STS, Clincher).

This will give you a much better chance of maintaining coherence throughout your answer because you will have **thought it through** with **notes** taken under each heading beforehand.

# Two Parts of a Conclusion

**The Summary Thesis Statement:** here we remind the reader what our thesis (overall argument) is, and we go through what topics have been discussed in its defence. This can be easily done by taking the TS and EM from the introduction and **rewriting them in new words**.

**The Clincher:** This is **a final thought** that should "clinch" the argument if it is an argumentative essay. Any non-argumentative answer or essay, however, will also read with greater coherence with a satisfying close; a call-to-action in a speech, perhaps; a resolution of a character's issues in a short story...

Studying for LC English Exams

#### Sample Argumentative Essay:

The **2002** question on the poetry of Elizabeth Bishop:

"The poetry of Elizabeth Bishop appeals to the modern reader for many reasons."

Write an essay in which you outline the reasons why poems by Elizabeth Bishop have this appeal.

#### Notes:

**1:** The essay is written to a standard **above second level** so don't worry that it may seem more in-depth than you are used to.

**2:** This is an extract from **a longer essay** I have written on four poems. I have included the analysis in the body paragraphs of **just two** of these.

**3:** I have included some **notes in parentheses** as a guide, and use of the letters **P**, **Q**, and **D** to indicate **P**oint, **Q**uotation, and **D**efence

**4:** Key words (or synonyms of them) from the question are highlighted to show how I am keeping the discussion focussed on what is asked; modern reader, appeal...

5: The discussion proceeds by way of the **point-quote-defend** strategy.

### INTRODUCTION

#### LEAD-IN:

[I am answering this question in *essay* form. In an *answer* in an exam setting, you would not need so much detail. Your lead-in could be just a couple of sentences.]

As a modernist poet, Elizabeth Bishop was generally more indirect in the expression of meaning than poets of previous periods of literary history. This makes reading this kind of poetry perhaps more difficult than readers would have expected before the 20th century, but all the more rewarding when we discover meanings in her poems that are not obvious on the surface.

#### THESIS STATEMENT:

[A clear statement of what is to be argued (the thesis) is crucial to the essay's coherence]

In her poetry, Elizabeth Bishop presents us with complex contemplations of **modern life**. These are expressed through a style of realism which, in their vivid presentations of **modern** settings avoids abstraction. It is a poetry, then, that will **appeal to the modern reader** because they will feel these locations and situations that Bishop presents are familiar. It will also **intrigue the modern reader**, who must find the themes that preoccupied Bishop expressed indirectly in the language and imagery of her everyday settings.

#### **ESSAY MAP:**

[The reader is told what poems will be discussed, each one identifying a topic; 4 topics in all in the original essay; two are included here; 1 and 4 ]

#### [Topic 1]

In '**The fish**,' Bishop surprises us with **a feminist theme** that is very topical for the **modern reader**; in her setting she presents a moment of transcendence of the gender difference through which patriarchal society has sought to favour men over women. The poem's observation of the speaker's recollection of catching a fish is infused with implicit meaning developing the theme.

#### [...]

#### [Topic 4]

In '**The Prodigal**,' the **modern reader** will appreciate Bishop's poetic exploration of the social deprivations caused by addiction. They will, once again, **appreciate the realism** through which the theme is developed but also the discovery of a number of meanings that Bishop has layered beneath the surface.

#### TOPIC 1; 'The Fish'

[Topic sentences for Topic 1: the poem 'The Fish' on the feminist theme of gender'; focus on the meaning of 'victory' in the poem]

Although not usually interpreted in Bishop's 'The Fish,' there is a strong feminist theme that **the modern reader** will be pleasantly surprised to see. Bishop centres the theme around what is meant by 'victory' in the poem. It can be seen to refer to the transcendence of the difference that would have women, and men for that matter, limit their place in the world based on gender alone.

#### Studying for LC English Exams

#### [Point 1: role reversal in the poem]

**[P]** Looking at important details, we see **a reversal in the roles** assigned by gender that would have been more pronounced in Bishop's mid-twentieth century America but which are still **an issue for the modern reader**. **[D]** We note that the speaker is out on the water in the fish's territory. He, in turn, is suspended **[Q]** 'half out of water'; he has been forced into her world. He is observed 'breathing in/the terrible oxygen' that threatens his existence. Figuratively, however, since he becomes a personification of a heroic war veteran, this symbolises the threat to the survival of the dominant myth of patriarchy that champions the victories of belligerent male figures.

[D] Vice versa, his female adversary has entered his domain and lingers there intruding into his intimate space. She tells us that she [Q] 'looked into his eyes,' a phrase that we would ordinarily use to specify an encounter between two people, and we get a sense of the personified fish's intimidation in the observation that his eyes [Q] 'shifted a little, but not/to return my stare'. Her stare, then, implies a dominating "male" position. In this confrontational scenario, what is of real interest in the poem is clarified in the interpretation that there is a symbolic [Q] 'victory' over the restriction of the individual to pre-determined, gendered identities.

#### [ Point 2: Bishop's use of the word `victory' ]

**[P]** At the end of the poem, we note that whatever 'victory' is referring to is being realised in terms of a risk posed to the speaker also. **[D]** The fish's surrender allowed the speaker to pause for a prolonged contemplation of her captive war hero: **[Q]** 'I stared and stared'. Given that the next line reads 'and victory filled up/the little rented boat', we understand that these are connected; the boat was filling up as the speaker played out the role of victorious "male" aggressor. That role, however, threatens to metaphorically "sink" her into his world.

**[D]** The rainbow image, then, emerges from the alarming scenario being described; the rainbow of colour visible in oil leaking gradually around the boat leads to the exclamation, **[Q]** 'Rainbow, rainbow, rainbow!' before the last line of the poem. There is a threat that the speaker might end up like the fish breathing terrible water, as it were; metaphorically, that her femininity might be lost in this role of "male" aggressor she is playing .

**[D]** But it is the literal truth that the boat might sink that places the speaker on common ground with the fish; that they share the same terms of existence, as would the war veteran who the fish represents, is a truth being impressed upon the speaker. The confrontation of male and female, in other words, is not resolved ideologically, but through this intrusion upon them *both* of a more basic reality; fish and fisherwoman/ male and female share the same finite terms of existence. **[P]** The **modern reader**, here, will welcome Bishop's poetic deconstruction of patriarchy's polarisation of the sexes that favours men over women.

[...]

#### TOPIC 4; 'The Prodigal'

[Topic 4: Topic sentences introducing 'The Prodigal' and the theme of addiction]

One of the themes that **the modern reader** will appreciate in Bishop is that of addiction which before the 20th century was not something people spoke about openly. In 'The Prodigal' we see her treatment of the theme, specifically that of alcoholism which she suffered from herself. The poem vividly depicts the destitution that has befallen the anonymous farmhand in the poem, and the self-delusion accompanying addiction that keeps him there in the belief that all is well.

[Point 1: the description of the farmhand's living conditions suggest the deprivations of addiction]

[P] The modern reader will be impressed by Bishop's inclination to exploit as far as she can the licence poet's will take by *showing* meanings to us in imagery rather than *telling* them to us. This is **particularly appealing** because it means Bishop maintains our attention on settings of everyday lives that are rendered in vivid detail. at the same time, they start to reveal what otherwise might have been articulated through more abstract means by another poet.

[D] In stanza 2, for example, once the farm owner has locked up the barn with the farmhand inside, we are told that [Q] 'The pigs stuck out their little feet and snored.' We have to read the significance into such images by putting them into the context of everything else we see in the poem. In this case, we sense the contrast between the restful comfort pigs will find in a barn at night, and the destitution of any person who has no home, and must share this space with them.

**[D]** As the pigs sleep together, the farmhand, who is alone as a human being among animals, is still working in this unpleasant place where he is deluding himself he should stay rather than return home. We see him **[Q]** 'Carrying a bucket along a slimy board.' Again here, as the details are given, we have to interpret what is shown, and which might otherwise have been told to us. As he is carrying a bucket, we sense unease given that he is walking on a board that is 'slimy,' and we are told that **[Q]** 'he felt the bats' uncertain staggering flight/...touching him'.

**[P]** We are not told why this is significant. On reading, however, we feel that this also describes the farmhand. **The modern reader** will appreciate the concrete terms by which the theme of addiction is being developed here; out of images of ordinary settings, Bishop is very skilfully communicating with us without telling us directly what she intends her imagery should mean. **[D]** We feel that what we are told about the farmhand is not to be taken literally only. Although the bats pass him as he walks across precariously across the **[Q]** 'slimy board,' we understand that he too must be *staggering* and *uncertain* both literally in this moment and metaphorically; in his mental and spiritual wellbeing. **[D]** Bishop exploits the common metaphorical use of the verb *to touch* to this end; we use it to signify being impacted on these levels by something. The language suggests he is not immune to the destitution his addiction has led him into.

#### CONCLUSION

#### SUMMARY THESIS STATEMENT:

[The TS and EM paraphrased]

Bishop's thematic interests in these poems articulate perspectives on the urgent issues of **modern society**; gender bias in 'The Fish,' and the terrible toll taken on people afflicted by addiction in 'The Prodigal'. **The modern reader** will also appreciate Bishop's intriguing combination of implicit meaning and vivid realistic detail; her style of developing these themes through uses of language and imagery that locate us firmly in the modern world.

#### CLINCHER:

[A final thought summing up to leave the reader convinced of what has been argued about the poet]

Bishop mastered the poetic art of *showing* rather *telling* to give us a poetry whose concerns are as much **relevant to us in the 21st century** as they were in her day.

# A Prewriting Method for Essays and Exam Answers:

In the basic structure of an essay applied above, you have the basis of a **prewriting method** which you can also use in writing essays and in answering exam questions.

In, Paper 2, for example, once you are ready to answer a question, you can prepare by **writing down the headings** used above for the essay. These will help you to organise your thoughts. This **prewriting** will give you the best possible chance of fulfilling the first two criteria that examiners will look for in **PCLM**; clarity of **P**urpose (30%) and **C**oherence of delivery (30%).

You will manage efficiency of Language use (30%) by writing in a style appropriate to the task. In this case; impersonal (unless otherwise specified), analytical, **argumentative**, with supporting evidence in the form of reference/ quotation. If your spelling and grammar are good you shouldn't lose any points for the 4th criterion: accuracy of Mechanics (10%).

You can begin prewriting your answer by taking notes for the various parts that you will use to write it: thesis statement, essay map... In and exam I would begin by **prewriting an answer** with something like the following for the 2016 question answered in essay form above:

#### INTRO

#### Lead-in:

- B wrote in a style of concrete realism; a modernist
- her topics are relevant to us today in the 21st century

## TS:

key words: modern reader, appeal The thesis:

- a very indirect development of theme; meanings are implicit
- ordinary settings; vividly real to us
- the poems can be difficult but they are also topical; modern themes

## EM:

Topics:

- 1: 'The Fish' : feminist theme; male/ female roles reversed; 'victory'
- 2: 'Filling Station': female in an oppressive male setting
- **3:** 'Sestina': moving sketch of child and grandmother mixed with surreal animation of objects; the child's drawing tells a story
- 4: 'The Prodigal': destitute farmhand alienated from society by addiction

## **BODY PARAS**

# TOPIC 1: 'The Fish'

- Point 1: the speaker stares at her "adversary"
- Point 2: the speaker experiences the symbolic threat of losing her identity; the literal threat makes her equal to the "male" represented in the fish
- Point 3: 'victory' over difference rather than the other; rainbow image

# [...]

## TOPIC 4: 'The Prodigal'

Point 1: the image of the pigs sleeping comfortably v the farmhand who lives with them

Point 2: the 'slimy board' etc; the 'bats touching' him; use of language to suggest the impact of addiction; farmhand is 'uncertain' and 'staggering'

# CONCLUSION

## Summary TS and EM:

- rewrite the TS and EM;
- 'The Fish'; the male/ female roles; meaning of 'victory' as transcendence
- 'The Prodigal'; informed by poet's own experience; meaning expressed indirectly through use of language and imagery

## Clincher:

- vivid presentation of settings the modern reader can identify
- themes of gender bias and addiction are important in modern life

## How to Organise your Study with Prewriting and Writing Past Questions:

You can now organise your study around the objective of being able to write and essay/ exam answer where the initial step will be **prewriting** using the structure of an essay. Here are a number of recommendations for developing **a strategy for studying:** 

1: get yourself a physical **calendar** (or two) for 2025 and 2026 rather than using one on your phone which is too easy to ignore. Hang it on your wall so that the schedule you outline on it is **always visible to you** 

**2:** in relation to your other subjects, **plan weekly study sessions** and mark them in on your calendar. For example, you might allocate two or three sessions of 1.5 hours each for studying a text like *Macbeth* for Paper 2

**3:** be aware of when studying a text is to completed as you proceed, and push yourself to get it done by that **deadline**. If you need more time, just push sessions forward but try to **be disciplined** 

**4:** once you have studied a text for **Paper 2** with the guidance of your classes and textbooks, make a similar plan to answer **past LC questions** 

**5:** in each practise session **prewrite your answers** using the essay outline: Intro (3 parts), body paras, conclusion (2 parts)

**6:** write your answers as fully as you can. This means, reading over your paragraphs to ensure you maintain **coherence** 

7: do the same for past questions from Paper 1

8: keep marking off your sessions so you can see your progress on your calendar

**9: reschedule** any sessions you may have missed and get them done so as not to fall too far behind; do your best to meet your **deadlines** 

# Five: Studying for Paper 1



With the **Prewriting Method** outlined in the previous chapter in mind, this chapter will look at Sections I and II of Paper 1, and recommend how best to study for them. We will start by looking at what kind of questions you will be given in Section I, and what options you have for answering them.

# Section I - Comprehending:

In Section I of Paper 1, you will be given three texts on a theme which will be stated at the top of the paper. In 2024, for example: 'The paper contains **three** texts on the general theme of **CONNECTIONS'**. The texts will be numbered simply TEXT 1, TEXT 2, TEXT 3.

Each text will be a piece of writing on the **specified theme**, and will be presented with a **summary**. In 2024, then, student's were given two edited articles from newspapers, and an extract from a novel. Here is how the texts were introduced. I have highlighted the genre:

## TEXT 1 - FAMILY CONNECTIONS AND THE NATURAL WORLD

This text is an edited **article** from *The Irish Times*, by Fintan O'Toole entitled, 'We have taken flight from our deep link with birds.' It was published in January 2023.

## TEXT 2 - FRIENDSHIP, THE HUMAN CONNECTION

TEXT 2 is an edited extract from the opening of Paul Murray's **novel**, *The Bee Sting*, shortlisted for the 2023 Booker Prize. The novel tells the tragi-comic story of the Barnes family, set in contemporary Ireland. In this extract we meet the teenage daughter, Cass, and her best friend, Elaine.

## TEXT 3 - CONNECTING THROUGH TRAVEL

TEXT 3 is an edited **article** from the travel section of the *Financial Times* by Monisha Rajesh, journalist and travel writer, entitled *To Istanbul by Train*. It was published in March 2023.

You will be advised to **'familiarise' yourself** with all three of the texts before choosing which ones you are going to answer questions on. This doesn't mean that you need to read all three, but that you spend some time looking them over as you make your decision. A strategy for this, based on what essay you would like to write for Section II, is given <u>below</u> and it ensures that you do not have to read a third text.

## The Questions:

Each text is followed by two questions; **A and B**. You have to answer **ONE** of **each** but **NOT** on the same text; one question A on one text and one question B on another text. For example, if you chose TEXT 2 and TEXT 3, you would have two options:

Answer question **A** on TEXT **2** and question **B** on TEXT **3** OR Answer question **A** on TEXT **3** and question **B** on TEXT **2** 

You will, then, be answering questions on **TWO** texts. Only answers on two texts will be considered. If you answer on a third text, you will be wasting your time.

#### **Question A Format:**

As a general rule, your answers to the questions should be structured by making a point, referring and/or quoting from the text, and defending your point.

Question A is in **three parts**. In **A(i)** and **A(ii)** you may be asked explicitly to make **three points** or 'explain **three insights**'. These first two questions focus attention on the **themes** of the the texts; *what* they are about.

Below are some of the **A(i)** and **A (ii)** questions given over five years with the key phrases like 'three insights' and 'agree or disagree' highlighted.

The A(i) questions are interested to see if you can observe what the texts say accurately and reproduce its insights in your own words.

In the **A(ii)** questions, you are being asked to take up a position on the theme or issue. You may be asked to '**agree or disagree**' with a point of view as in 2022; you may be asked for '**your view**,' to give your '**personal response**'. You will often be asked for '**three points'** in your answer.

Whatever way it is articulated, you will be asked to write an answer in a **persuasive or argumentative style**, or a **combination** of both. However you approach your answer, you will be **defending a thesis**; the perspective you take.

You would lean more toward the **persuasive** strategy if the subject centres on some **moral issue**. This was the case in one of the 2022 questions below where the subject is 'diversity of youthful voices'.

This is open to an argument that it would be unfair if young people from all backgrounds did not have an equal voice in society. You could appeal, then, **persuasively**, to the reader's conscience in order to write a compelling answer.

In a 2023 question, however, students were asked whether a particular title for a photograph would be a good one or not. This does not lend itself to a direct appeal to the reader morally. An **argumentative** style would be best.

Your answers will not be essays but should have the basic introduction-bodyconclusion structure. You should **prewrite your answers** using this outline.

#### 2020:

**A(i)** Based on your reading of the written element of TEXT 3, explain **three insights** you gain into the character of Ariadne O'Neill. Support your response with **reference to the text**. (15)

**A(ii)** Both elements of TEXT 3 belong to the genre, science fiction. **Explain why you think** this genre has a wide and enduring appeal. Make **three points** in your response. (15)

#### 2021:

**A(i)** Based on your reading of TEXT 2, explain **three insights** you gained into what links the past and the present in the writer's life. Support your answer with **reference to the text**. (10)

**A(ii)** In paragraph 5, Doireann Ní Ghríofa observes, "We may imagine that we can imagine the past, but this is an impossibility." Give your **personal response** to this observation by the writer. (10)

## 2022:

**A(i)** Based on your reading of TEXT 1, explain **three insights** you gain into the power of poetry. Support your answer with **reference to the text**. (10)

**A(ii)** Amanda Gorman's status as a powerful young voice was bolstered by her performance at the US presidential inauguration. Discuss the extent to which you **agree or disagree** that a diversity of youthful voices should be represented in public debate on all important issues in Irish society. (10)

#### 2023:

**A(i)** Based on your reading of TEXT 2 on page 4, explain **three insights** you gain, from Henry Eliot, into how reading novels can be an enriching experience. Support your answer with **reference to the text**. (15)

**A(ii)** Do you think that Between Two Worlds (the theme for this paper) would be a good title for Alfred Stieglitz's photograph above? Develop **three points** to support your response. In your response you should consider **the subject matter and visual aspects of the photograph**.

## 2024:

**A(i)** What, **in your opinion**, does the writer reveal about the unique experience of "slow travel" in TEXT 3? Make **three points**, supporting your response with **reference to the text**. (15)

**A(ii)** One of Monisha Rajesh's fellow travellers, Charles, was wearing a T-shirt saying Green against the Machine. **What are your views** on the different ways open to young people to protest, or demonstrate their views, on important issues? Develop **three points** in your response. (15)

**A(iii)** is generally a question about *how* the text is written, and each text will have a question that is a variation of the same. You are being tested on your knowledge of **the five genres of language** the syllabus specifies. We have outlined these in <u>chapter two</u> and are using the acronym, IPANA, to help us remember them. Here are extracts from past papers showing their focus on features/ elements of the genres:

## 2023:

Text 1: **'Features** of both **narrative** writing and **descriptive** writing are used effectively...'

Text 2: **'Features** of both **personal** writing and **informative** writing are used effectively...'

Text 3: '**Features** of both **persuasive** writing and **informative** writing are used effectively...'

## 2024:

Text 1: 'Identify **four elements** of the writer's style, evident in TEXT 1, and discuss...'

Text 2: 'Identify **four elements** of the writer's style, evident in TEXT 2, and discuss...'

Text 3: 'Identify **four elements** of the writer's style, evident in TEXT 3, and discuss...'

# Features (or Elements) of the Five Genres of Language Use:

You can see in the examples above that the questions refer to 'features' or 'elements' of the style of the language used in the texts. These will describe the **five genres of language** use that are commonly observed in writing (IPANA). In order to be able to answer **A(iii)**, then, it is essential you are familiar with these. They will be **what you are looking for** in the texts when answering the question you choose.

#### Features of Informative Language:

When we want to communicate information, our language needs to focus clearly on just that; information. We do not want to distract from this objective with any of the other four uses of language.

We can identify informative language when we observe any number of the following features in a text, and it will be these that A (iii) will be asking us to point out in the text we chose in Section I.

- there is information present; for example, biographical detail (dates, places, names); instructions or a guide on how to do something
- the language is objective/ impersonal; no "I" (first person perspective);
- none of the motives of the other genres (persuasion, argumentation, narration, aesthetic) are present in this style. These would be irrelevant and/or obscure/ distract from the clear communication of information.
- the language is precise; devoid of adverbs and adjectives; it doesn't describe people, place, or things; it gives information about them
- the text can contain lists that present the information

#### Where do we find informative language?

Typically, we find informative language in instructional texts, guidebooks like this one, reports, educational textbooks...

The language of information, however, can be found in texts employing the other genres but the communication of information would not be the text's primary objective. You could have passages in a historical work of fiction that will clarify context with facts about the period in question.

#### Features of Persuasive Language:

In this use of language, as we have observed, the writer is interested in having readers agree with his/her perspective on some subject by appealing to them on some **emotional** level.

It is often used in a **call-to-action** essay that is written on an issue that has moral implications. We will be able to identify any of the following features in a text that is primarily persuasive in style:

- a direct appeal to the reader **emotionally** will be the most obvious strategy
- less emphasis on using **reason and logic** (argumentation)
- addresses the reader/ listener directly; 'Do you really want to live in a world where you cannot tell the difference between real and fake news?'
- use of rhetorical questions as in previous example to persuade
- use of personal experience ("I") to impress the validity of what is being expressed. For example, you are much more likely to want to listen to and believe someone speaking about how crime does not pay if they are a reformed criminal who has been in prison
- direct appeal to the reader morally in a call-to-action; in a speech about homelessness, for example, you could have a clincher like this: 'You know as well as I do that homelessness in the 21st century should not be a reality. Something must be done'.
- the writer can use any number of **tones**: solemn, indignant, humorous, light-hearted, outraged...

## Where do we find persuasive language?

Typically, we find persuasive language in **speeches** (in particular, political speeches), some newspaper articles, advertising....

The language of persuasion, however, can be **combined** with any other. It is likely that it will be accompanied by some use of **argumentative language** to support the appeal with a more objective, rational articulation of the subject; there could also be **informative language**; in the example above, perhaps statistics on homelessness.

## Features of Argumentative Language:

This is the style of language you will be using most of the time in answering questions in Paper 2. It is language that aims to **defend a thesis** (one side of an argument) by relying on the **evidence** it presents to support each point made. It appeals to the reader **rationally**, **logically**, **and with supporting evidence**, rather than emotionally. The features to expect to find in this kind of text:

- a **neutral**, **detached**, **objective language** and tone; no emotion as in the persuasive style
- **little or no** use of the **first person pronoun** ("I") in order to maintain the impression that what is being argued is not simply the writer's opinion
- if personal pronouns are to be used, then **"we" rather than "I"**; this implicitly locates the reader on the writer's side of the argument
- relies on **supporting evidence** to prove a number of points and construct a defence of a thesis (the argument/ point of view)
- may refer and/ or quote respected sources on the subject
- use of the **language of information**; facts, objective analysis (such as the formal properties of a poem) to support the argument
- presentation of **a contrary argument** in order to point out how it is flawed in an attempt to strengthen the thesis

#### Where do we find argumentative language?

Typically, we find argumentative language in **critical analysis** (such as in the analysis of a poem, play, novel), a newspaper article that argues for one side such as an editorial where the editor expresses his/her opinion on a topic

The language of argumentation, however, **can be combined** with **informative** language. If a writer is aiming for the objective, reasoned defence of a thesis that defines argumentative language, he/she **should** *not* **include persuasive appeals** to the reader; nor should it indulge recollections of the writer's personal experience. These weaken the **impression of objectivity** that is essential to the success of an argumentative text.

#### Features of Narrative Language:

A narrative use of language **tells a story**. The most common use of narrative is in a work of **fiction** such as the novels prescribed for the LC. In Section II of Paper 1, students are given the option of writing a short story. This will require **a narrator** telling the story from either a first person ("I/ We") or a third person ("He/ She/ they") point of view.

We can have narrative also in **non-fictional** accounts of the past; historical documentary films will reconstruct the story of the past using narrative language that usually takes the listener from one event to the next chronologically. A biography or autobiography will do the same. Features to look for in narrative uses of language:

- an **imaginative** piece of writing that tells a story; **a fiction**
- the text narrates real events of the past (non-fiction) in a story format
- there is an identifiable narrator who is part of the story; the first person, subjective point of view ("I/ We")
- there is an anonymous narrator who is not part of the story; the third person objective point of view ("He/ She/ they")
- vivid use of descriptive and/or aesthetic language
- use of **dialogue** where the words of characters (fiction) or real people (non-fiction) are quoted
- the development of **believable characters** through realistic descriptions of their experiences
- a **dramatic structure** building toward climactic moments and their outcome
- an **open style** where sentence structure is not limited by the demand to communicate information, persuade, or argue
- use of metaphor/ symbolism to communicate meanings implicitly

## Where do we find narrative language?

Obviously, we find narrative language in any text that tells **a fictional or true story**; novels, short stories, film scripts, plays, narrative poems, biographies and auto-biographies, history books...

#### Features of Aesthetic Language:

Aesthetic language **draws attention to itself** rather than serving only as a medium of communication. We are made aware of *how* meaning is signified rather than just *what* is signified. To say a text has aesthetic value, is to say we can appreciate it as **an artistic "object"**.

**Poetry** is the most concentrated use of aesthetic language. A work of fiction will also be appreciable aesthetically; in how the writer uses language to describe a scene, a dialogue, depict a character and so on. Features of this kind of language:

- the presentation of the text in conventional form on the page; 14 lines shortened to accommodate the rhythms of iambic pentameter in the Shakespearean sonnet, for example
- syntax following **a pattern for an aesthetic impression**; the repeated rhythms of lines of iambic pentameter, for example, in a sonnet
- **aural registers** used in any of the ways we are familiar with in poetry; end-ryhme, internal rhyme, half-rhyme, assonance, consonance, alliteration...
- **linguistic devices** used in poetry to register meaning indirectly; hyperbole, metaphor, symbol, allusion, onomatopoeia...
- **vocabulary**: careful choice of words for their sound within a rhyme scheme
- the choice of **images** to suggest these implicit meanings; for example, the inclusion of the image of a raven, a traditional symbol of death
- in prose; similar uses of image for their symbolic or metaphoric value in a narrative
- in **prose**; evocative use of **descriptive passages** for settings, characters, and events
- in prose; the use of sentence length to accompany the tone; long meandering sentences might be employed to register a slow and easy progress; shorter, clipped sentences could be used to mirror an urgent movement within a scene

#### Where do we find aesthetic language?

Aesthetic language is the substance of literary art; poetry, drama, and fiction.

We also find aesthetic language in **non-fictional genres**; in any piece of writing where *how* it is written has features that are appreciable in addition to *what* it says. Use of any of the features above in a persuasive of argumentative piece of writing **may lend it aesthetic value** in addition to the thesis being defended.

# Genres Combined:

While either the **rhetoric** of the **persuasive** style or the **detached objectivity** of the **argumentative** style will dominate a text, in the former, more often than not, there will also be a rational appeal to the reader.

This combination of persuasive and argumentative language is the focus of question A(iii) in the 2019 exam. The student is asked to observe one of them:

Identify **four** elements of **argumentative** or **persuasive language**, evident in TEXT 1, and explain why their use might encourage readers to agree with the views expressed by the writer in the article. You may include any combination of **elements** of the language of argument or the language of persuasion in your response. Support your answer with reference to the text. (20)

If the student chose to point out instances of **argumentative** language, their explanation would find **four of the 'elements'** (the features we have looked at above) of that use of language in TEXT 1. Showing these to be present point by point, would construct the answer's argument that together they 'encourage readers to agree with the views expressed by the writer'.

If the student chose to point out instances of **persuasive** language, their explanation would find **four of the 'elements'** of that use of language in TEXT 1. Showing these to be present point by point, would construct the answer's argument that together they 'encourage readers to agree with the views expressed by the writer'.

## **Question B Format:**

In question B, you will be asked to write a short composition. Some examples from past papers:

- an open letter
- a personal letter
- a personal reflection
- an article
- a proposal
- the text for a podcast
- an editorial
- a verbal pitch (a spoken promotional presentation)
- a dialogue
- diary entries

Examples of all of these are shown in exam questions (2021 to 2024) below.

In this question, you have to decide which of the **genres of language** (IPANA) will be appropriate; which of the features we have looked at above you should employ. For example, if the topic centres on a moral issue, as does the text 2 question from 2021, **persuasive language** that includes something of your own feelings about the subject will be appropriate. In contrast, we note in 2023 that the text 1 question does *not* ask for persuasion or argumentation of a point of view. It asks for **personal reflection** incorporating elements of narrative and aesthetic language.

You will see that, most of the time, **one genre** will dominate the task, but some of the others will also be required to some extent.

Included below, I have suggested what the best use of language would be in each case. Key words and topics are **highlighted**.

**Note:** The total marks for Paper 1 changed from 140 to 200 in 2023. You will see that reflected in the marks below; a change from 40 to 50 for the question.

#### 2021:

#### Text 2:

An assertion that other creatures' lives are somehow lesser than human life has prompted extensive **debate** on social media. In order to join in this online debate, write **an open letter** to be shared on social media, in which you: state **your position** in relation to **animal rights**, explore some of the issues associated with our current engagement with animals and outline what you see as the major challenges we face as we share the planet with animals in the future. (40)

#### Genres to use:

The topic is emotive. It can be argued effectively using features of the **persuasive style** to appeal to the reader on an **emotional/ moral leve**l. It could also present a **rational argument** to strengthen the position stated.

#### Text 3:

You have decided to apply for the position of **editor** of your school's Graduation Yearbook. Each year, the Yearbook has a different theme, chosen by the editor. An article by a celebrity contributor is also included annually. To be considered for the post, you must make **a verbal pitch** to the

graduation committee members in which you: **promote** your preferred theme for the 2021 Graduation Yearbook, **impress** the committee with your ideas for its content, and nominate your ideal celebrity contributor, **explaining** your choice to the committee members. Write the text for the verbal pitch that you would make. (40)

#### Genres to use:

Here you can mix **persuasive** and **argumentative**. You are writing the text of a presentation you would make to such a committee. Since part of what you would be speaking about would be the theme for the yearbook, it will exploring how you think the school and its students should be celebrated. Since this will appeal to them on an emotional level, **persuasive** language would be appropriate. On who the celebrity should be, you could also use **argumentative**, and **informative** language.

#### 2022:

## Text 3:

It is 2033 and you are **the editor** of an internationally distributed newspaper. A **book burning** event, similar to that described in TEXT 3, has occurred in a major American city. You believe that **respect for books** of all kinds is vital to democracy and are **horrified** by this assault on them. Write an editorial in which you: give **your response** to this incident, **warn** your readers of the dangers inherent in attacking books in this way and urge them to engage in peaceful protest against this and any other form of censorship. (40)

#### Genres to use:

The burning of books is a symbolic act that conveys a message of intolerance of ideas, and registers a threat to freedom of speech. As an editor in this fictional scenario, you can write of your feelings about such an act. This would be primarily **a persuasive piece of writing**; a warning and call-to-action to readers. It could also include **argumentative** and **informative** language. It could speak of the threat to democracy by citing the burning of books in Nazi Germany.

#### 2023:

#### Text 1:

**Imagine** you are Salim and you have been in London for over a year. Write a **new personal letter** to your mother in which you: **describe** a number of experiences you have had that you believe will **fascinate** your mother, reflect on both the positive and negative insights you have gained into human nature as **an outsider** in London, and consider some of the ways you believe your experience in this city has altered you as a person. (50)

#### Genres to use:

As a personal letter, that is going to reflect on positives and negatives rather than persuade or argue for something. It will, then, be **discursive** rather than persuasive or argumentative. It must appear to 'fascinate' the character's mother. It will demand features of **narrative/ aesthetic** language to describe the experience. A **discursive essay**, as we will observe in the <u>next section</u>, presents different perspectives on a subject without arguing for either one.

#### Text 2:

You have been asked to write **a personal reflection** for an educational history magazine. The reflection should recall an experience you had of visiting a place of historic interest. In the reflection you should: **outline** the expectations you had before your visit to the **place of historic interest**, describe some of the thoughts and feelings you had in response to this place during the visit and, **argue the case** for making trips to historic places compulsory for students in Irish schools today. (50)

#### Genres to use:

While primarily **persuasive** in style, this personal reflection is not on an emotive issue; it asks the student to '**argue the case**' for visiting historic sites. It will not be overly emotional or urgent in its appeal; it will be an informative recommendation rather than a call-to-acton. It could have elements of **narrative** in the descriptions of these places; it should be **informative** on the history of the places visited; it can include how these places can make the visitor **feel**.

#### Text 3:

It is Science Week and you have been asked to write **an article** for your school's website about the **increasing role played by technology in schools**. In your article you should: **describe** some of the positive ways technology is utilised in schools today, **discuss** whether or not, **in your view**, technology can be a negative influence in schools, and **speculate** about the role you think technology will play in schools in the future. Your article may be **serious** or **humorous** or both. (50)

#### Genres to use:

This style here should be primarily **discursive**, a style which considers a topic but does not seek to persuade or argue for a particular perspective on it. It is not argumentative; it asks for it to be considered ('discuss' and 'speculate') but does not construct a defence of what should be done about it. Also, it is an **article** rather than an **editorial**, and there is no obvious moral or emotional component.

It asks for some **descriptive language** to accompany **discussion** of and **speculation** about the topic. The tone can be 'humorous' as stipulated. It should, however, still aim to present **a particular perspective** on the role of technology in schools, and this is to be focussed on whether or not there are any negatives.

#### 2024:

#### Text 1:

In TEXT 1 Fintan O'Toole refers to how different generations can have differing views on issues. Write the text of **a dialogue** between an adult and a young person who have **opposing viewpoints** about a contentious issue of your choice. In the dialogue you should: develop the arguments of both sides, and conclude the dialogue in a convincing manner, with one side conceding to the other in some way. (50)

## Genres to use:

Essentially, this question asks the student to write a piece of **fiction**; a dialogue between 'an adult and a young person' that dramatises generational difference on a subject of the student's choosing. It is also, however, to incorporate elements of **argumentation**. It can include **informative** language, depending on what the characters arguments are. In it, also, **persuasive language** can be used and will be particularly effective because the topic is likely to be an emotive one.

#### Text 2:

Certain aspects of the area where you live have become run down and neglected. Write **a proposal** to your local Tidy Towns Committee in which you: **outline** your key concerns in relation to the problems you have identified, propose a project that you believe would improve the situation, and **sugges**t how the committee could encourage more members of the local community to become active in improving the local area. (50)

#### Genres to use:

This has a **personal component** to it, and so it can include some **persuasive language**. It is a call-to-action in the form of a 'proposal'. It can be expressed in terms of the impact on the writer as a member of a community, but it should be backed up by a reasoned argument for action.

This means some convincing **argumentative language**. It needs, also, to be **informative** in its 'outline' of 'key concerns'. The 'project' **argument** for what should be done should make sense as a 'proposal'.

#### Text 3:

Write a series of **reflective diary entries** of a person returning to their homeplace after travelling for a whole year in different countries. In your diary you should: consider your feelings on returning home, recall and analyse some significant moments and events that stand out for you from your travels, and reflect on how the experience of travel has influenced your overall worldview now. (50)

#### Genres to use:

The student is asked to imaginatively write a number of 'reflective diary entries'. These will, then, be written in a **personal style** that recalls moments from a year of travel. An important theme of 'returning home' is to include 'feelings'. There is **no argument** to be constructed here; nor position to **persuade** the reader to take. Instead, this question is asking for elements of **narrative**; descriptive passages detailing different places, and the experience of returning home. It is likely to have some **aesthetic** use of language in how it expresses feelings and/or describes the experiences of other countries.

# Section II - Composing:

In Section II of Paper 1, you will be asked to write an essay. You can give yourself up to 1 hour and 20 mins (80 mins) to complete it. There are usually 7 essay questions to choose from.

We have noted that, for this exam, you need to bear in mind the **4 kinds of language use** being focussed on. We have detailed these in <u>chapter 2</u> and used the acronym, **IPANA**, to remember them. You will be given a reminder of these in the exam. The same sentence is used every year: 'The composition assignments are intended to reflect language study in the areas of information, argument, persuasion, narration, and the aesthetic use of language.'

Looking at exam papers over 10 years, as you can see below, there are five **genres of essay** that are almost always options; **short story, personal essay, article, speech/ talk, and discursive.** There are two more that are options less frequently; **descriptive essay** and **persuasive essay**.

There are some others that have been given but not in the past 10 years: **letter** (2003), **competition entry** (2005), **opinion piece** (2009), **practical guide** (2010).

Year	Short Story/ Dialogue	Personal Essay	Article	Speech/ Talk	Discursive Essay	Descriptive Essay	Persuasive Essay
2024	2	2	1	1	1	0	0
2023	2	2	1	1	1	0	0
2022	2	2	1	1	1	0	0
2021	2	2	1	1	1	0	0
2020	2	2	1	1	1	0	0
2019	2	2	0	1	1	1	0
2018	2	2	0	1	1	1	0
2017	2	1	1	1	1	1	0
2016	2	1	0	2	0	1	1
2015	2	1	1	1	1	1	0

#### Paper 1, Section II Essay Questions, 2015 to 2024:

#### 1: Persuasive and Argumentative Essays:

Although Leaving Cert, Paper 1 exams do not ask specifically for an **argumentative** essay, it is important here to make the distinction between it and the **persuasive** essay clear. This is because, as we have noted, one of the five uses of language (IPANA) identified in LC English is the **language of argument**. Also, it would be clear that you are to use the persuasive style if you were explicitly asked for a 'persuasive essay'. This, however, is unlikely. As the table shows, the option has been given only once (2016) in ten years.

The **speech option**, however, will often encourage you to use the persuasive style. In 2024, it is implicit in the language ('for or against') and because the topic is one that would encourage an emotional appeal to the reader:

Write **a speech for or against** the motion that: "The accelerated pace of modern life detracts from our enjoyment of it."

We see the same in the 2023 question:

You are taking part in an international debating competition where the motion is: "Society today lacks ethics (morality), decency and respect for the law." Write your **speech for or against** this motion.

As is obvious from its name, in the **persuasive** essay, you are trying to persuade the reader of one side of a debatable issue. As we have observed earlier, however, you are doing so, not primarily with supporting evidence but by appealing to the reader on an **emotional** level; there is an appeal to the **'heart'**. Only potentially emotive subjects will be appropriate to the style; those from the speech examples above, for example.

The reader is to agree with you mostly because of **the feelings** you evoke in them. This doesn't mean that there is to be no **reasoned** support of the perspective being defended. On the contrary, this will be crucial. Essentially, however, it will **not be an argumentative essay** which is similar in one important respect; it will also focus attention on **a debatable point of view** on the subject it discusses. An argumentative essay, however, as we have outlined it, will appeal to the reader's reason/ logic in an impersonal, unemotional style; to the **'head'**.

One person might argue that saving the planet is not our responsibility, while another person will argue it is. In the discussion of literary texts, one person might interpret Emily Dickinson's poem, 'I felt a funeral, in my Brain,' as a morbid reflection on suffering and death; another person might see it

ultimately as an observation of the transcendence of suffering.

In both cases, the reader is given debatable subjects. An essay on the first, however, is engaging the reader with **a moral issue**. We can debate what should be done about climate change **persuasively** because it is naturally of great concern to the lives of so many people. Its **emotive potential** encourages the writer to appeal to the reader accordingly.

In contrast, in an essay on Dickinson's poem or an answer to a question in Paper 2, feelings are irrelevant *unless* specifically asked for. Even then, it will achieve its objective by referring the reader to the text for **supporting evidence** and through the clarity of its reasoning or logic; it will appeal to the 'head'.

#### Persuading and Arguing :

In the climate change example, we could seek to *persuade* somebody that it is **morally right** to support clean energy in a bid to halt the advance of global warming. Subjects like this necessarily engage the reader **morally**; others would be war, poverty, crime. Persuasive essays written on these kinds of subjects often take the form of a 'call-to-action'.

An essay on climate change, then, in an attempt to encourage the reader to reflect upon their personal responsibility, might end with **a rhetorical question** that appeals to their sympathies for those who will come after them: 'Are we really going to leave a dying planet to our children?'

We would not adopt this persuasive strategy if we were discussing what a poem by Emily Dickinson is about in Paper 2. Instead, we would seek to **convince** the reader by presenting **supporting evidence** from the text in the form of reference/ quotation, and by explaining the point being made clearly.

In the former, then, we would appeal to **the reader's emotions** but would also present supporting evidence. In the latter, evidence from the text(s) in question would support **an impersonal**, **objective style** which would engage the reader **intellectually/rationally**.

The **argumentative** essay, then, necessarily **excludes** the **persuasive** appeal to the reader's feelings. In fact, a substantial measure of its success will depend on how it sustains the impression that the truth of its argument does *not* depend on feelings which, being **subjective**, weaken the impression of objectivity it aims for.

#### What is asked for in Section II - Composing:

In order to know how to approach the composition question, you must have a clear idea of the **essay you are being asked to write**. We can ask whether it will be **argumentative** or **persuasive** in style, or whether it will be a **combination** of these, by looking at some examples form past papers, and by noting which of the **features of the various genres of writing** should be used in each option. As we have observed earlier, there are 6 that are most often offered:

- 1: the short story
- 2: the personal essay
- 3: the speech/ talk
- 4: the newspaper/ magazine article
- 5: the discursive essay
- 6: the descriptive essay

We have noted that there are other options that are rarely given but which you should be aware of; diary, letter, competition entry, opinion piece, practical guide.

Essential to your study preparation will be **practising writing** the kind you prefer by answering past paper questions. Below is a guide to styles required for the six genres.

## 1: Writing Style for a Short Story:

If we are writing a piece that **tells a story (a fiction)**, it is *not* our intention to construct an argument to defend our position directly, if at all. The story may have a message in it. We might want it to reflect on a theme or issue, but this will be done *indirectly*. Here are the questions over the past 5 years.

**2020:** The general theme of the exam was 'exploring genre'

**3.** In TEXT 2, the extract from Arthur Conan Doyle's short story ends with a dramatic arrival.

Write a short story, in which **a crime or mystery** is solved, that begins with a **dramatic** arrival. You may set your short story in any era and may choose to **include or not include the fictional detective Sherlock Holmes**.

58

5. The theme of TEXTS 1, 2 and 3 is "EXPLORING GENRE".

Write a short story which features the **three characters** that appear on the magazine cover on Page 7 of this examination paper. You are free to write your story in **any genre** you choose.

**2021:** The general theme of the exam was 'reflections on time'

**3.** In TEXT 1, John Banville recalls seeing, "blear-eyed passengers off the overnight ferry from Fishguard in Wales" as he waited at the railway station. Write a short story, **set in a railway station**, in which a passenger off the overnight ferry from Fishguard in Wales plays an important role. Your short story may be **amusing** or **menacing** in tone.

**5.** In TEXT 2, Doireann Ní Ghríofa alludes to the importance of bees in medieval Ireland.

Write a fable or **fairy-tale, set in ancient Ireland**, in which **a bee or bees** feature prominently.

2022: The general theme of the exam was 'powerful voices'

**3.** In TEXT 3, a student, Dieter Knecht, undertakes the perilous rescue of Joseph Roth's novel, Rebellion, from destruction in the Nazi book burning in Berlin in 1933.

Write a short story in which the student featured in TEXT 3, Dieter Knecht, has a **life changing experience** as he attempts to **rescue** Joseph Roth's denounced novel, Rebellion, **from the Nazi supporters** who wish to see it destroyed.

**7.** In TEXT 2, Ben Okri talks about, "the story at the plaintive heart of the music."

Write a short story in which **a piece of music or the lyrics of a song** (or songs) play(s) an important part in the narrative.

**2023:** The general theme of the exam was 'between two worlds'

**1.** In TEXT 2, Henry Eliot describes Prague as "mysterious and impenetrable". Write a short story which features **a confused character** in a **mysterious** setting.

**5.** In TEXT 1, Salim tells us that he did not have the courage to challenge his uncle's plans for him.

Write a short story that features a **complex relationship between two characters**, where one character **disagrees completely** with the views of the other.

2024: The general theme of the exam was 'connections'1. In TEXT 2, we see a complicated relationship between friends and family. Write a short story focusing on tensions either in a family or in a group of friends in which a connection between the past and the present is important.

**6.** TEXT 3, describes the writer's experience of a train journey to Istanbul. Write a short story **set among strangers** on an eventful **train journey**.

If you choose to write a short story, you must include within it the narrative elements that the question specifies. These are **highlighted** above.

For example, then, in **2023**, an answer to question 1 would have to include a '**confused character**' and it should describe a '**mysterious setting**'. In **2024**, question 1 specifies a **family setting** that is troubled in some way. A theme of **time** (the 'past and the present') is also a required as an element in the story the student writes.

## **Practise Writing Short Stories:**

In order to begin writing a short story, there are a number of important elements to consider. These you should take notes on in your **prewriting** so you have a clear outline before you as you begin to write.

## 1: setting; where and when the story takes place

This is sometimes determined by the question, as in the 2024 example above. Most questions, however, allow you to set your story as you choose. 2020, for example: 'You may set your short story in any era...';

## 2: Narrative point of view (pov): subjective or objective

In any work of fiction, there are two basic perspectives that can be given to the narrator.

There is the **first person ("I"/ "we") pov**. In this option, the narrator is part of the story; a character like any others that might be in it. He/she may be the principle character or not. This pov means that anything that happens in the story is limited to it. The narrator can't know everything about other characters. It is a good option if the narrator is the principle character.

There is also the **third person pov ("he"/ "she"/ "they").** Here, the narrator is anonymous, telling the story without being involved in it, a voice, as it were,

hovering above the setting, describing what is happening. One of the advantages of this pov is that the narrator can be given **omniscient** (all-knowing) access to the characters; he/she can not only see everything that happens, but can also describe how the character's feel and report what they are thinking.

**3:** Tone: often, the question will allow you to choose what the tone of your story will be; it could be humorous, dark, tragic, uplifting.... In question 6 above from 2024, for example, students were asked to write a short story 'set among strangers on an eventful train journey'. It would be entirely up to the student to decide what the overall tone should be. Some questions, however, will demand a particular tone. In question 3 from 2022 above, for example, a serious tone is demanded because the story is to focus historically on the bid to resist censorship in Nazi Germany at the time of World War II.

**4:** Plot and key moments: in your prewriting you should outline how your short story is going to unfold. Because it is necessarily short, however, there will not be many events within its narrative structure. In fact, a short story may not have a plot. It could be limited to two people speaking together in a room or outdoors. Usually, however, there will be a setting and some sense of progress in time, and there will be at least one key moment/ event when something is revealed and/or some issue resolved.

**5: Descriptive language and imagery:** as you prewrite your short story, this heading will prompt you to make an effort to bring your setting, key moments, and characters to life. You may decide on particular descriptive words or phrases that come to mind; you might think of a striking image you would like to include...

# 2: Writing Style for a Personal Essay:

In this is the kind of essay, you will note from the past questions below that students are asked to **'reflect on'** the theme developed in the text they have read in Section I. You can see that these are all themes that students are likely to be able to write about from **their own point of view**, and in the context of their **own experience**:

- **2020:** things you are proud of **OR** unique and diverse personalities of your friends
- **2021:** the significance of birthdays **OR** the role of humour, fun and laughter in life
- **2022:** items or objects that have become "faithful companions" in your life **OR** the value of engaging in all kinds of learning
- **2023:** an occasion or occasions when you made a resolution **OR** the things that bring excitement and wonder into your life
- **2024:** aspects of life you find puzzling **OR** your relationship with the natural world

## The style; how you would write the personal essay:

- an engaging exploration of the theme from a first person perspective ("I"). The language used makes this clear; students are asked to *celebrate*, *reflect on*, *share their thoughts, describe*,
- not argumentative
- not persuasive
- this essay will demand elements of **narrative** and **aesthetic** language in the form of descriptive prose

2020: The general theme of the exam was 'exploring genre'

**1:** In TEXT 3, flight engineer, Ariadne O'Neill, explains how she takes pride in her work.

Write a **personal essay** in which you **reflect on** what you are **proud of** in your life.

**7:** In TEXT 2, we see that Sherlock Holmes and his friend, Watson, are very different characters.

Write **a personal essay** in which you **celebrate friendship**, and **reflect on** how you have been influenced by the unique and diverse personalities of your friends.

**2021:** The general theme of the exam was 'reflections on time'

**1.** In TEXT 1, John Banville tells us of the annual childhood trip to Dublin to celebrate his birthday.

Write **a personal essay** in which you **reflect on** the significance of birthdays, your own and those of others, sharing your thoughts on this annual personal milestone.

**4.** In TEXT 3, Muhammad Ali's security personnel play along with a joke between the boxer and Chadwick Boseman.

Write **a personal essay** in which you **reflect on** the role of humour, fun and laughter in life.

**2022:** The general theme of the exam was 'powerful voices'

**1:** In TEXT 2, Tom Gatti suggests that albums can become "faithful companions" in our lives.

Write **a personal essay** in which you **identify** some of the items or objects that have become "faithful companions" in your life and **reflect on** the importance of these items or objects to you.

**6.** In TEXT 3, the students in the story are described as "unlearning everything but the spirit of the nation".

Write **a personal essay** in which you **reflect on** the value of engaging in all kinds of **learning** and the pleasure, satisfaction and **personal growth** that can be derived from doing so.

**2023:** The general theme of the exam was 'between two worlds'

**3.** In TEXT 1, Salim makes a resolution and refuses to be discouraged.

Write **a personal essay** in which you **reflect on** an occasion or occasions when you **made a resolution** and **refused to be discouraged**.

**6.** In TEXT 2, Henry Eliot describes how he gets, "a particular thrill from visiting literary locations".

Write **a personal essay** in which you **describe and reflect on** some of the things that bring **excitement and wonder** into your life.

2024: The general theme of the exam was 'connections'

**4.** In TEXT 2 Cass describes people who, "would stare at her a moment as if trying to solve a puzzle."

Write **a personal essay** in which you **reflect on** some of the aspects of life you find puzzling.

7. In TEXT 1 the writer reveals his interest in nature to us.

Write **a personal essay** in which you **reflect on** your relationship with the natural world.

# 3: Writing Style for a Speech/ Talk:

From the past questions shown below, you can see that the speech/ talk you are asked to write will be one in which you are **defending** a particular perspective on some subject:

- **2020:** you argue **for or against** the motion: "Contemporary Irish society is both tolerant and progressive"
- 2021: speaking against stereotyping
- 2022: a speech outlining the social and cultural values you would promote
- **2023:** a speech **for or against** the motion that "Society today lacks ethics (morality), decency and respect for the law."

**2024:** a speech **for or against** the motion that: "The accelerated pace of modern life detracts from our enjoyment of it."

In this essay, you need to use strong **persuasive** and/or **argumentative** language. You may also use other genres; informative and descriptive language may be useful at times.

#### The style; how you would answer the speech question:

- an engaging defence of your position on the given topic
- can have personal reflection ("I")
- needs to be persuasive and/or argumentative
- can benefit from informative language
- can benefit from descriptive language

2020: The general theme of the exam was 'exploring genre'

**6.** In TEXT 3, Ariadne O'Neill observes that on Aecor, "... nobody cared about status or money, who was in power, who was kissing or killing whom."

Write **a speech** in which you argue **for or against** the motion: Contemporary Irish society is both tolerant and progressive.

2021: The general theme of the exam was 'reflections on time'

**7.** In TEXT 3, Chadwick Boseman draws attention to the dangers of stereotyping.

You have been asked to **speak**, **as a representative** of a national youth organisation, at the launch of a major campaign **against stereotyping**. Write the speech you would deliver.

2022: The general theme of the exam was 'powerful voices'

**2.** In TEXT 1, we learn that Amanda Gorman may be a candidate in the American presidential election in 2036.

You are a candidate in the next election for the presidency of Ireland. Write a **speech** to be delivered during the **election campaign**, in which you outline the social and cultural **values** you would promote if elected and **explain** the perception of Ireland you would cultivate abroad, given the opportunity to do so.

**2023:** The general theme of the exam was 'between two worlds'

**4.** TEXT 3 expresses concern about a world that, "has no knowledge of ethics (morality), of decency, of the law".

You are taking part in an **international debating competition** where the motion is: "Society today lacks ethics (morality), decency and respect for the law." Write your **speech for or against** this motion.

2024: The general theme of the exam was 'connections'

3. In TEXT 1, the writer is appreciative of the "gift of time and love".

Write **a speech for or against** the motion that: "The accelerated pace of modern life detracts from our enjoyment of it."

# 4: Writing Style for a Newspaper/ Magazine Article:

Generally speaking, in **newspaper articles**, the emphasis is on being **objective**, reporting in an **impersonal** style, presenting **facts**, being **informative**. This style of writing is not asked for in LC exams. If newspapers are specified, it will be a **feature article** that is asked for. This is because, in an exam setting, it isn't reasonable that a student could write a factual, informative news story.

As you will see, in the past 5 exam papers, the questions have asked for **magazine articles**. In three of these, a '**feature article**' is specified. You have to go back to 2012 to find any mention of a newspaper and you will note that it also gives the choice of a magazine article:

Write a **feature article for a newspaper or magazine** on the role played by memory and the past in our lives.

A feature article deals with a single topic in depth but can include the writer's **personal** experience, should be **entertaining** more than informative, and can incorporate **narrative** elements and/or **aesthetic/ descriptive** language. If it is in a newspaper, it will be written in the same style.

Whether the question clarifies that it should be a feature article or not, you can write with this style in mind because it is used for many articles in magazines; a **creative piece of writing** on some **topical issue** that appeals to its readers **aesthetically** and/or on some **emotional** level. We can see in the questions over 5 years that all are for magazines, and that they ask for or encourage **personal reflection**:

**2020:** ...ideas for new inventions and discoveries **you think** would improve your life or make the world a better place.

**2021:** ...the many and varied colours and sounds that punctuate and surround **our daily lives** and the impact they have **on us**.

**2022:** ...reflect on our fascination with all things fashionable and explore the stories we tell about ourselves...through our fashion choices.

2023: ...describing your hometown, city, village or area

**2024:** ...you **explore** some of the connections that you believe enrich teenagers' lives.

**2020:** The general theme of the exam was 'exploring genre'

**2.** In TEXT 1, Alan McMonagle writes about allowing room for, among other things, discovery, invention and re-invention in life.

Write **a feature article**, suitable for publication in **a popular magazine**, offering **some ideas** for new inventions and discoveries you think would improve your life or make the world a better place. Your article may be **serious or humorous** or both.

2021: The general theme of the exam was 'reflections on time'

**6.** In TEXT 2, Doireann Ní Ghríofa celebrates the colours in her garden, the sounds of the past and the "purring" of bees.

Write **an article**, for publication in **a popular magazine**, about the many and varied colours and sounds that punctuate and surround our daily lives and the impact they have on us.

2022: The general theme of the exam was 'powerful voices'

**4.** In TEXT 1, we learn that Amanda Gorman recognises that fashion is itself a storytelling device.

Write **a feature article**, for the **magazine** section of a weekend newspaper, in which you **reflect on our fascination** with all things fashionable and explore the stories we tell about ourselves, intentionally or unintentionally, through our fashion choices.

2023: The general theme of the exam was 'between two worlds'

**2.** TEXT 1 gives us the protagonist's view of the city of London as he encountered it.

Write **a feature article**, for **a popular magazine**, describing your hometown, city, village or area, in which you consider some of the following: the place, its people, values, atmosphere and general way of life.

2024: The general theme of the exam was 'connections'

2. The theme of this examination is "Connections".

Write **an article** for **a popular magazine** in which you explore some of the connections that you believe enrich teenagers' lives.

# The style; how you would write a (feature) article:

- an engaging exploration of the topic that can include **personal reflection** The language used makes this clear; students are asked to *celebrate*, *reflect on*, *share their thoughts, describe*,
- not argumentative
- not persuasive
- it can have a discursive element

# 5: Writing Style for a Discursive Essay:

# The Discursive Essay:

The discursive essay will employ the same **objective tone** of an argumentative essay. However, it will *not* be defending a thesis; it will not favour one point of view over another. A discursive essay doesn't try to **persuade or convince**, though it may do so inadvertently. It aims, instead, **to leave any conclusions up to the reader**.

A key word in some of the exam questions that illustrates the neutral position can be seen in how they ask you to **consider** the topic. You are not asked if you **agree** or **disagree** as in some of the essays that will require persuasive and/or argumentative styles.

A discursive essay will present **any number of perspectives** without seeking to convince the reader that any one of them is superior to any other. It seeks to **inform/ educate** a reader on an issue that could be the focus of debate. It may, then, incidentally, convince the reader of one side of the related argument. The essay will **not**, however, use persuasive language to do so. It will begin with **a statement of intent**, **not** a thesis statement.

It may help you to remember how a discursive essay works if you think of a review of some product across a range of brands; the kind we see on some YouTube channels. An **objective review** of televisions, for example, will look at many different products in the same way. It will not conclude that one is better than all the rest because it will allow for a variety of customer needs. One television may be better than all the others in sound quality, but not good value for money.

With this discursive strategy, **the** *viewer* **is left to decide** which product is best **for** *them*. They will not be drawn in any particular direction by the presentation. By analogy, a discursive essay, will seek to **inform and educate** rather than **persuade or convince**.

2020: The general theme of the exam was 'exploring genre'

**4.** In TEXT 3, we read about a range of advanced technology such as TEVA suits and inflatable habitat modules.

Write **a discursive essay** about our changing relationship with machines and the rise of artificial intelligence.

2021: The general theme of the exam was 'reflections on time'

**2.** Bees, whose lives depend on the community of the hive, feature prominently in Text 2.

Write **a discursive essay** in which you **consider** the meaning and importance of community.

2022: The general theme of the exam was 'powerful voices'

5. The theme of this examination paper is "Powerful Voices".

Write **a discursive essay** in which you **identify** some of the powerful voices in modern life and discuss their influence on society.

2023: The general theme of the exam was 'between two worlds'

**7.** TEXT 3 refers to George Orwell and Roald Dahl who were, in different ways, influential writers in the twentieth century.

Write **a discursive** essay about the impact of influential individuals in today's world. Your chosen individuals may have positive or negative impacts or a combination of both.

2024: The general theme of the exam was 'connections'

**5.** The writer in TEXT 3 regrets losing her anonymity by engaging with social media.

Write **a discursive essay** in which you **consider** whether or not it is possible, or even desirable, to maintain privacy in today's world.

# The style; how you would write the discursive essay:

- a neutral *consideration* of any number of views on a given topic; a statement of **intent** is given in the introduction
- you are *not* trying to persuade the reader of any one perspective on the topic
- not argumentative; no thesis statement
- not persuasive; doesn't appeal to the reader emotionally or morally
- informative and descriptive language will be required

# 6: Writing Style for a Descriptive Essay:

# The Descriptive Essay:

As the name suggests, this is an essay which provides **detailed description** of any or all of the following: **people**, **places**, **and things**. The past five questions, however, have been devoted to **settings**. Any description of people in these would be incidental to the overall objective.

The **settings** are to be brought to life through **vivid descriptive passages**. What will **not be included**; the objective of developing a fictional character within a narrative context; persuasion or argumentation.

As in the first example below, these essays ask you to use your **imagination** to provide captivating descriptions of the given setting. The objective is to make it possible for the reader to **enter imaginatively into an appreciation of a time and place** :

2015: 'life in Ireland in 2015'
2016: an 'urban journey'
2017: a 'Night Scene'
2018: the landscape reflecting 'the transition of the seasons'
2019: 'the difference between dawn and dusk'

2015: The general theme of the exam was 'challenges'

**5.** In TEXT 3, Penelope Lively writes that she sometimes feels like an "observant time-traveller".

Write **a descriptive essay** which captures **life in Ireland in 2015** from the point of view of an observant time-traveller. The time-traveller may be from the past or from the future.

2016: The general theme of the exam was 'journeys'

**3.** Sara Baume takes her readers on a journey through the countryside in her novel, spill simmer falter wither, featured in TEXT 2.

Write **a descriptive essay** in which you take your readers on an **urban journey**.

2017: The general theme of the exam was 'different worlds'

**2.** In TEXT 3, Paul Auster describes the stars as, "benign and beautiful presences hovering in the night."

Write a descriptive essay entitled Night Scene.

**2018:** The general theme of the exam was 'young writers'

**1.** In TEXT 2 Fiona Mozley writes "it was during this summer in the woods, that Daddy told us these stories".

Write **a descriptive essay** in which you **capture how** the landscape reflects the transition of the seasons. You may choose to include some or all of the seasons in your essay.

2019: The general theme of the exam was 'feeding our imaginations'

**1.** In TEXT 2, Tom expresses the view that people favour photographs that feature sunsets.

Write **a descriptive essay** which **captures a sense of** the difference between dawn and dusk and celebrates both the beginning and the end of the day.

# The style; how you would write a descriptive essay:

- vivid use of language to bring people, places, and things to life realistically
- elements of fiction writing but adapted to non-fictional topics; *not* a narrative with fictional characters

# Six: Answering Paper 1





# Paper 1 Marking Scheme and Recommended Timing:

Section I - Comprehending	Section II - Composing	
Question A (3 parts) 50 marks (15 + 15 + 20)	One composition chosen from 7 questions	
Question B 50 marks	100 Marks	
Total: 200 marks		
Exam Time: 2 hrs, 50 mins (170 mins)		
<b>Timing:</b> 1 hr, 15 mins (75 mins)	Timing: 1 hr, 15 mins (75 mins)	
<b>Preparation</b> (reading and selecting questions): 10 mins Reading over answers: 10 mins		

English **Paper 1** is the first Leaving Cert exam and is held in the **morning**; **Paper 2** is held the day after in the **afternoon**. The exams begin in the first or second week of June.

# In 2024:

Paper 1, June 5th; 09:30 to 12:20 Paper 2, June 6th; 14:00 to 17:20

# Choosing your Questions, Section I - Comprehending:

If you have been practising writing essays for the question you will answer in Section II, you will probably have decided what kind of essay you will write in the exam. This, then, gives you a strategy for choosing **what texts you will read in Section I.** 

The essay choice you make in Section II will determine which text in Section I you will read in relation to it. Here are the two questions for writing a personal essay in the 2023 exam:

**2023:** The general theme of the exam was 'between two worlds'

3. In **TEXT 1**, Salim makes a resolution and refuses to be discouraged.

Write a personal essay in which you reflect on an occasion or occasions when you made a resolution and refused to be discouraged.

6. In **TEXT 2**, Henry Eliot describes how he gets, "a particular thrill from visiting literary locations".

Write a personal essay in which you describe and reflect on some of the things that bring excitement and wonder into your life.

As you can see, if you wanted to write a personal essay in this exam, you would be **committed to reading** either TEXT 1 or TEXT 2 in Section I.

If you have already made a decision that you will be writing one kind of essay in your answer to Section II, you have **a strategy for starting Section I**:

- take note of what **the theme of the exam** is; this will be written at the top of the exam paper; this will be the general theme you will be writing about in Section II
- **go straight to Section II** and read the question(s) for the essay you would like to answer.
- if you have a choice of two questions, you might choose to read the two texts in section I related to them. There will likely be two questions for the personal essay and the short story options.
- read the essay question you have chosen carefully to begin thinking about what topics you might be able to include in writing your essay
- on roughwork paper, write down the headings for your prewriting notes (Intro (3 parts), Body Paragraphs, Conclusion (two parts)) so that you can take notes for writing your essay as you read the texts in Section I
- go to the text in Section I relevant to the essay you will answer in Section II and begin reading

Answering Paper 1

# Answering A(i):

As noted in the previous section, this question asks you to focus on **what** the text says. **A** (i) will ask you to **explain three insights** or give **three points** regarding the text to support **your opinion** about it in some way.

1: don't begin to read the text until you have read A (i) and A (ii) so that, as you read, you will be able to highlight **key moments** that you can use in your answers

**2:** you are looking for **3 insights or points** to write about; number them as you read but read all of the text. If you find more than three, choose the ones you think you can write most about

**3: begin your answer with a simple introduction** of one or two sentences that outline the **three insights or points** you are going to write about. As you would write the introduction to an argumentative essay, think of your intro as having a **thesis statement** and **essay map**.

**4:** Construct your answer with **each insight/ point**; refer to the text and **quote** where possible even though the questions do not ask for it

**5**: make your answer **coherent as a whole** by using transitional words or phrases to introduce each point in a new paragraph:

In the opening paragraph, ...

Another insight...

We also see some insightful reflection in paragraph 5...

Finally, in the closing passage of the extract...

**6: finish your answer** with a simple summary concluding on how the text was insightful or on the points you have made

Answering Paper 1

# Answering A(ii):

**A(ii)** asks you to **defend a thesis**; a position on the theme or issue developed in the text; to **`agree or disagree**' with a point of view as in 2022; you may be asked for **`your view**,' to give your **`personal response**'. You will often be asked for **`three points'** in your answer.

You will be required to answer in a **persuasive** and/or **argumentative** style, and to articulate your answer through three points.

1: having answered A (i) you will have **read the text already**. It should not be too difficult to find the part(s) of it that the question directs you to; highlight them

**2:** prewrite your answer as you would a persuasive/ argumentative essay by writing down the relevant headings; iIntro (in 3 parts), Body of answer (3 points), Conclusion

**3:** write down what it is you are going to argue; **the thesis**. This will be given to you in the question; it will be what you are asked to **agree or disagree** with

**4:** in your **prewriting**, decide on the **three points** you are going to develop as you answer the question

**5: begin your answer with a simple introduction** of one or two sentences that outline the **three points** you are going to present to support your perspective. This will be preceded by your **thesis statement**; the perspective you are going to **defend** in the answer either **persuasively**, **argumentatively**, or through **a combination of the two** 

**6:** Construct your answer with **each insight/ point**; refer to the text and **quote** where possible even though the questions do not ask for it

7: make your answer **coherent as a whole** by using **transitional** words or phrases to introduce each point: First of all/ Firstly...Secondly... Also, we should consider...

**6: finish your answer** with a simple summary of your thesis and the points you made in defending it

Answering Paper 1

# Answering A (iii):

As we have observed, this question is going to ask you to focus on **how** the text is written. It will ask you to find **features** or **elements** of the genres of writing being used in the text.

TEXT 1 from the 2023 exam, for example, is an extract from the novel, *Gravel Heart* by Abdulrazak Gurnah. The question asks students to look for features of **narrative writing** and/or **descriptive writing**.

Answering A (iii), you should...

1: write down on roughwork paper, the **features** or **elements** you remember that you will be looking for. Having a list before you as you read will be helpful.

**2:** as you read, **highlight** parts of the text where you find the relevant features/ elements

**3:** begin your answer with a simple introduction of one or two sentences:

'As an accomplished novelist, we see how effectively, in this extract from *Gravel Heart*, Abdulrazak Gurnah uses both narrative and descriptive writing to create a very engaging work of fiction.'

**4:** Construct your answer with **each feature as a point**; refer to/ quote the text for each one

**5**: make your points coherent within the whole by using **transitional** words or phrases to introduce each point:

In the opening paragraph, ...

Another effective use of narrative can be seen in...

**Once more,** in the fifth paragraph, we see the skill with which Gurnah evokes the scene using descriptive language.

Finally, in the closing passage of the extract...

**6:** finish your answer with a simple summary concluding on what it is you have shown in your observations

'Gurnah's descriptions present us with a vivid sketch of how difficult life can be for a young immigrant in an alienating multi-cultural environment like London...'

# **Answering Question B:**

As we have observed in the previous chapter, to answer question B you will be required to write **a short composition**; an open letter, a personal letter...an article...

1: Any such composition will be best prepared for in **prewriting**. On roughwork paper, you should **prewrite** your composition by laying it out and adding notes using the usual structure: Introduction, body paragraphs, conclusion.

2: take note of what **genres** you will use where the principle decision is whether you will use **persuasive** language, **argumentative** language, or a **combination** of both. In most reflective pieces, the style will be more **discursive**; it may consider different perspectives but it will *not* be arguing for one over another. Some, however, such as the question for TEXT 2 in 2023, could also ask you to 'argue the case'.

Some compositions, will allow you to include **narrative** elements and **aesthetic** uses of language or will ask you directly to compose a fictional piece; for example, the dialogue students were asked to write for the question on TEXT 1 in 2024.

**3:** in your prewriting, **brainstorm as many topics** as you can; choose up to 5 to include in your composition

**4:** write an introduction that includes what you are arguing (a **thesis statement**) if that is what you are doing and outline the topics you ant to cover (an **essay map**)

**5**: Construct your answer by discussing each topic with a paragraph for each if it is not a question that asks for a fictional composition.

# Writing Your Essay, Section II - Composing

1: If you have followed the strategy recommended previously, you will have chosen your essay before you start Section I, and, unless you have decided to write a short story, you will have written down the **prewriting headings** for it on roughwork paper:

# Introduction (3 parts):

- 1: Lead-in
- 2: Thesis statement/ statement of intent
- 3: Essay map

# **Body Paragraphs:**

Topic 1: Topic 2: Topic 3: Topic 4:

# Conclusion:

Summary TS and EM: Clincher:

You will probably have some notes under these headings from things that have occurred to you while answering Section I.

**2:** think through **each component** of your essay above before starting to write, adding more notes to them

- write out a preliminary thesis statement if it is an essay in which you will be arguing a point of view; in the speech or talk option, for example
- if you are not writing a persuasive/ argumentative essay you will need a statement in your introduction that tells the reader what it is you are going to be writing about; a statement of intent

**3:** as you begin, keep in mind what genres of language use you are going to use in your essay; IPANA.

# Seven: Studying for Paper 2



# **The Single Text**

# Planning Your Study of the Single Text:

# 1: Plan sessions for studying the text:

In chapter three, I have included in the lists of prescribed material the reading times estimated at the website <u>Reading Length</u>. In order to find a realistic estimate of the time you will need to devote to your texts, you should **double their reading time** because studying means pausing on key moments and taking notes.

For *Macbeth*, then, since the website gives a reading time of almost 4.5 hours, you should plan study sessions with a total of 9 hours in mind. You could plan to study in sessions of 1.5 hrs. This could then be completed in 2 weeks in 6 sessions; 3 in each week.

#### 2: Use a physical calendar:

In order to stay on track, I would recommend using **a physical calendar** (rather than one on your phone) that you can have on your wall. At a glance, you will be able to remind yourself of where you are in the study of the text.

#### 3: Be methodical:

You need to develop the habits that work best for developing knowledge of the text. I would recommend, as previously, that you give **titles** to chapters/ acts and scenes, and take **notes about the key moments** as you come to them. I would also recommend that your notes have **an outline** like the one shown in the <u>next section</u> for Act I of *Macbeth*. On the first page of your notes, this will allow you an overview of the text's key moments.

# What you are looking for in the text:

#### (i) Plot:

Having a clear idea of the **sequence of events** through which the narrative of a novel or a play develops its themes and characters is important.

#### (ii) Dramatic structure:

This refers to how a play will progress in terms of key moments; its principle character(s) will be **introduced** (exposition); they then will be seen to face **issues and/or a trial of some sort**; as they struggle to reach **resolution**, the play will advance toward some **climactic moment** (rising action); there will be a climactic moment after which the play will present some kind of **outcome and end** (falling action).

#### (iii) Theme:

Themes identify **what a work of literature is about**; love, friendship, death, suffering, gender... As you study the text, you must brings these forward when **key moments** relating to them emerge. Focusing your study on these key moments will make the themes memorable.

#### (iv) Key Moments:

These will be the moments in the play that focus our attention on one or more of the themes developed in it. They will also have to be noted in relation to **character development** and the **formal properties** of the text.

#### (v) Character Development:

As we read the text, we should be alert to how **aspects of the characters' personalities** are revealed. Again, you need to find any umber of key moments that would show **consistency of character**. Lady Macbeth, in *Macbeth*, for example, is clearly an unscrupulous manipulator of her husband who she persuades to kill the king. Because we see no redeeming qualities in her throughout the play, we conclude that he is one of Shakespeare's **villains**.

We may, however, also be looking at how a character has been **changed by experience**; they may have appeared to be admirable or not at the start of the play or novel but the reader's opinion about this may be complicated by how they are shown to behave. In Shakespeare's plays, for example, characters such as Macbeth will often fall somewhere between the poles of hero and villain giving us the more complex category of **tragic-hero**.

#### (vi) The Form of the Text:

A novelist or playwright will use any number of **aesthetic and/or literary devices** in the text; symbolic imagery, visual or verbal metaphor, descriptive language, dialogue...You should try to take note of the most significant of these as you read.

# Studying the Single Text:

#### 1: Watch a film adaptation if available:

If you are studying a play, try to find a film adaptation of it to watch. Some may also be available for novels. Your teacher will have introduced the text for you, so you will have an idea of its principle themes. Watching a film version of it will mean the **plot and key moments** will begin to be memorable to you. You should note that film versions do not always accurately reflect novels or plays; they are **adaptations**. It is the text itself that is your primary source.

Here are adaptations of the 5 prescribed texts that you might be able to find copies of:

Brontë, Anne	The Tenant of Wildfell Hall (1848)	1996, BBC TV Series
Doerr, Anthony	All the Light We Cannot See (2014)	2019, Netflix Series
Miller, Arthur	The Crucible (1953)	1996, Film
Shakespeare, William	Macbeth (early 17th century)	2021, Film
Stoker, Bram	Dracula (1897)	1992, Film

# 2: Don't read "blind":

Even if you have watched a screen adaptation of a play or novel you are studying, familiarise yourself with the text by reading **a plot summary**. Become familiar also with the areas of study noted above; theme, character, and so on. Otherwise you will be reading "blind"; it may be difficult for you to recognise **key moments** because you are not alerted to what to look for. You could follow a plot outline of the novel or play as you read.

You should read about the author; **biography and the writer's historical and cultural context** will provide insight into the text. For example, belief in the supernatural was common in Shakespeare's time. The appearance of the witches in *Macbeth*, then, would have been more relevant to people's conception of reality then than it would be in our modern cultural context.

# 3: Take notes on key moments:

Before you begin reading, prepare to **summarise** each chapter of the novel or act of the play by writing notes on key moments. Keep these notes clear by organising what you take note of with headings that specify themes, character development, language, imagery...

# 4: Make chapters/ Scenes Memorable:

Most novels will not have titles for their chapters. In order to make your notes memorable, give them **titles and brief summaries** that will remind you of key moments in them.

The same applies to drama. For *Macbeth*, for example, you can write memorable outlines of each scene in which a key moment is found, and give titles and/or summaries to those notes. Scene 5, of Act I of *Macbeth* when we are introduced to Lady Macbeth might be summarised as follows:

# ACT I:

Scene 5: Lady Macbeth's soliloquy: `...unsex me here'

- LM reads the letter
- fears M is 'too full o'th'milk of human kindness to catch the nearest way'
- she will 'pour' her words of ambition into his ears
- calls on the spirits to 'unsex' her and make her capable of murder
- urges M to present a welcoming facade, but be a 'serpent' underneath

Though you will find them in textbooks, writing **your own summaries of chapters or scenes** will make the whole text more memorable. You will be able to place the titles at the start of your notes as **a chronology of key moments** that you can refer to at a glance. For Act I of *Macbeth*, for example:

# Macbeth

# ACT I (7 scenes):

- I.1: Three 'weird sisters'
- I.2: 'brave Macbeth'
- I.3: The Witches' Prophecy
- I.4: Malcom declared heir to the throne
- I.5: Lady Macbeth's soliloquy: `...unsex me here'
- I.6: Greeting King Duncan at Inverness
- I:7: The murder plot/ Lady Macbeth manipulates Macbeth

As you take notes on key moments, you will also need to highlight particular lines that would support a discussion in **quotation**. You may remember some in your exam but you are asked only to **refer** to the text.

You could write down some **quotes** or underline them in your text. For example, as above, Lady Macbeth's opinion of her husband in 1.5 that he is 'too full o'th'milk of human kindness'.

#### 5: Practise writing about what you have learned:

Practise answering **past exam questions**. This is the best way to consolidate all you have learned. What you know is going to be graded according to how you *write* about it in an exam. You need to practise being in that setting using **the prewriting method** outlined in <u>chapter four</u>.

# **The Comparative Study**

# Planning your Study of the Comparative Study Texts:

You should plan your study of each of the three texts of the comparative study as you would the single text:

1: Schedule study sessions by calculating a realistic estimate of the time you will need.

#### 2: Use a calendar to plan study sessions

#### 3: Be methodical:

- give titles to chapters/ acts and scenes
- take notes about the key moments as you come to them.

# What you are looking for in the texts:

The single text strategy also applies to the three texts for the comparative study except that you do not need to pay attention to them in so much detail. You will be able to **narrow your focus** by looking for moments that are significant in relation to **the three** (out of four) **comparative modes** prescribed for **2026**:

- (i) Cultural Context(ii) General Vision and Viewpoint
- (iii) Literary Genre

Not prescribed: Theme or issue

As with the study of the single text, you will be looking for **key moments**. Now, however, you will be taking notes when they reveal something on any of these **three areas of interest**. When you write your summaries for these texts, the key moments you find will be explored under the headings of these three comparative modes.

#### (ii) Cultural Context:

Any novel, play, or film will have a **setting in time and place**. Specific to that orientation will be a number of things that together define **the culture**. In Shakespeare's plays, for example, we see a lot of superstitious belief such as will attach significance to unusual occurrences in nature. Such beliefs were much more common in 16th and 17th century England. He knew, then, that his audience would respond to them well. Compared to today, we see that Shakespeare, and his characters, lived in **different cultural contexts**.

This mode, and literary genre will always be closely related to the **themes** developed in the texts. Even though the 'theme or issue' mode is **not prescribed for 2026**, since themes identify what a text is about, you will necessarily be considering them as you study key moments. There will be a number of possible themes that serve to **clarify the cultural context** in each text:

- belief system/ religion and associated values
- the status of individuals according to **gender**; is it a patriarchal society? how are women valued?
- **family relationships;** how important are they? On this theme we can tell a lot about the cultural context in *King Lear* when we see how Gloucester refuses to recognise Edmund as his son
- power/ political system; what kind of power system is established? Shakespeare's plays were written in non-democratic times when societies were governed by monarchs appointed according to birth. These were the cultural elites, and this feudal system carried with it particular rituals such as the coronation of a king; the use of a throne and a crown as symbols of regal power...
- identity and social class; in any narrative we can ask if the setting is defined by a difference in wealth between communities. This will have a bearing on the cultural identity of the principle characters.
- **identity and race;** if it is a multi-cultural context, is there a shared space for different cultural traditions and/or elements of conflict?
- customs, habits, and the arts; clothing, food, music, literature, popular culture...

#### (iii) General Vision or Viewpoint:

In this area, as the title suggests, we are interested to clarify what general vision or viewpoint can be seen to be articulated through the text that can be attributed to **the author**. Again, this is closely related to the themes developed. Writing in the early 19th century, for example, in the novel,

*Pride and Prejudice*, Jane Austen is responding to how the patriarchal, classconscious society of England at the time allowed women to advance their status only through marriage. Her **viewpoint**, as it emerges in the narrative, is wary of the consequences of this obvious bias. It articulates **a general vision** of a more just society where women do not feel obliged to marry their way into prosperity.

Since we are exploring the text's articulation of the author's vision/viewpoint, **biographical detail** can be very helpful. Austen lived in a society in which women's rights were severely limited; they could not vote, for example, gain a university education or begin a professional career.

Biography will be relevant to the study of all the texts. In our interpretation of the poems by Elizabeth Bishop in <u>chapter 4</u>, for example, it was helpful to learn that she considered herself a feminist, and that she had suffered from alcoholism.

#### (iv) Literary Genre :

We have come across the word *genre* when discussing the five genres of language use (IPANA) in chapter two. The word generally refers us to **a style or category** of art, music, or literature. In popular music we have genres like reggae, rock, heavy metal, country, folk... We are familiar with genres of film such as action, adventure, drama, horror, romance, science fiction, thriller...

A literary genre can be broad or narrow. A novel is a genre of fiction; others would be myth, fairytale, allegory. But when we are describing a particular novel, we can be more specific. Here are genre descriptions of five of the novels prescribed for the comparative study:

Author	Title	Genre
Austen, Jane (1775-1817)	Pride and Prejudice (1813)	romance novel, novel of manners
Bronte, Anne(1820-1849)	The Tenant of Wildfell Hall (1848)	epistolary novel, social criticism
O'Farrell, Maggie	Hamnet (2020)	historical fiction
Owens, Delia (b. 1949)	Where the Crawdads Sing (2018)	coming-of-age murder mystery
Stoker, Bram (1847-1912)	Dracula (1897)	gothic novel, horror fiction

#### (i) Theme or Issue (not prescribed for the 2026 exam):

Although not prescribed, it is worth noting what is meant by *theme or issue* because these will, in any case, be essential to your understanding of the texts you are studying.

Themes, in themselves, are not specific to the text; they identify **kinds of events**, **relationships**, **feelings**, **experiences**, **ideas**...anything that is recognised can happen in any time and place; they collectively define all that can be good and bad about the human experience. We can relate to themes whether or not we have personally experienced what they observe; war, love, family, friendship, evil, desire... All of these are themes because they can be developed in a narrative in any given context; they are **universal**.

**Issues** are more specific but closely related. In the theme of gender, for example, a writer may seek to highlight **the issues faced by women** in a patriarchal society where their freedom is unjustly limited because of their gender.

# Bringing the three texts together:

A crucial part of the comparative study is obviously the comparison itself which means pointing out **similarities and differences** in the texts in terms of how they engage the reader in relation to one of the three modes.

When you have taken notes on the texts, you need some way to **bring together the key moments** from all three; something that will allow you to glance over your comparisons without having to read all your notes again.

From your notes on each text, you could highlight **key moments from each text** side by side on tables, one for each mode. This would give you at least three tables as shown on the next page where I have chosen three texts (two novels and one film) from the prescribed material for 2026.

You would identify each key moment and add a short note to remind you of the significance of each in relation to the mode.

Key Moments on Cultural Context		
Days Without End	Where the Crawdads Sing	The Shawshank Redemption
Key Moment 1	Key Moment 1	Key Moment 1
Key Moment 2	Key Moment 2	Key Moment 2
Key Moment 3	Key Moment 3	Key Moment 3

Key Moments on General Vision and Viewpoint		
Days Without End	Where the Crawdads Sing	The Shawshank Redemption
Key Moment 1	Key Moment 1	Key Moment 1
Key Moment 2	Key Moment 2	Key Moment 2
Key Moment 3	Key Moment 3	Key Moment 3

Key Moments on Literary Genre		
Days Without End	Where the Crawdads Sing	The Shawshank Redemption
Key Moment 1	Key Moment 1	Key Moment 1
Key Moment 2	Key Moment 2	Key Moment 2
Key Moment 3	Key Moment 3	Key Moment 3

89

#### The Comparative Study Question:

Since 2021, because of the Covid-19 pandemic, questions on all three prescribed modes have been given. If a return to pre-pandemic format comes into effect in 2026, there would be questions on **just two** of the three modes. That would mean it would be necessary to study the texts in relation to **at least two modes**. This should not be too much more work given that these modes are **naturally connected to one another**. If you are considering a text in terms of **cultural context**, for example, you will inevitably be engaged in understanding its **themes or issues** also.

Question 2 also allowed students to discuss just **two of the texts** prescribed. This may or may not change in 2026. It is better, in any case, to study three texts.

#### The Format of the Questions:

You have a choice of answering ONE of two questions. Question 1 is split into two parts; question 2 is a single question.

#### 2020: A CULTURAL CONTEXT

**1. (a)** Identify and discuss **two aspects of cultural context** which you believe make a significant contribution to the level of social division or the level of social unity evident in **one text** on your comparative course. Develop your response with reference to the text. (30)

(b) Compare the extent to which **social division** is evident in each of **two other** comparative texts you have studied. Develop your response with reference to the **aspect or aspects of cultural context** that you believe contribute(s) to the level of social division evident in these texts.

In your answer you may refer to **the same aspect or different aspects** of cultural context in each of the texts that you have studied. (40)

# OR

2. Choose one **central character** from each of **three texts** on your comparative course. Compare the factors, **related to cultural context**, that affect the extent to which these characters are **accepted or rejected as members of their societies**. Develop your response with reference to your chosen texts.

In your answer you should refer to at least one relevant factor related to cultural context in each of your three comparative texts. You may refer to the same factor or different factors in each of your chosen texts. (70)

# 2021:

#### A THEME OR ISSUE

**1. (a)** Identify **a theme or issue** you studied on your comparative course. Discuss the various reasons why you did or did not find the exploration of this theme or issue **emotionally engaging in one text** on your comparative course. Support your response with reference to the text. (30)

(b) Compare the reasons why you found the exploration of the same theme or issue discussed above, more, less or equally **emotionally engaging** in **each of two other texts** you studied on your comparative course. Develop your response with reference to your chosen texts. (40)

# OR

2. Compare the insights you gained into the same theme or issue through understanding what influences or motivates one central character, from each of at least two texts on your comparative course, when making one or more key decisions. Develop your response with reference to your chosen texts. The insight or insights you gain into the same theme or issue from different texts may be similar or different. (70)

#### 2021:

# C GENERAL VISION AND VIEWPOINT

**1. (a)** Discuss the extent to which a character that you found inspiring in **one text** on your comparative course influenced your sense of the general vision and viewpoint of this text. Develop your response with reference to your chosen text. (30)

(b) In relation to **two other texts** on your comparative course, compare the extent to which a character that you found inspiring influenced your sense of the general vision and viewpoint of each of these texts. Develop your response with reference to your chosen texts. (40)

# OR

**2.** "The aspects of a text that we find unsettling or disturbing often influence our sense of the general vision and viewpoint."

In relation to at least **two texts** on your comparative course, compare the extent to which an aspect or **aspects of your chosen texts**, that you found unsettling or disturbing, influenced your sense of the general vision and viewpoint of these texts. Develop your response with reference to your chosen texts. (70)

#### Question 1:

The first question breaks your knowledge of the texts down as follows: a noncomparative answer to (a) on **one text**, and **a comparative** answer on **'two other texts'** to (b). You are comparing only two texts in the second question. If you choose question 1, then, you must be able to apply your knowledge of **all three** texts to your answers.

#### **Question 2:**

Unless the format is changed for the exam in 2026, question 2 gives you the option of answering on only **two of the prescribed texts**. You would be writing an answer like part **(b)** of question 1 but it would need to be longer.

# Prewriting Answers to the Comparative Study Question:

It is important to practise writing answers for the comparative question because you need to know how to **prewrite** your answer, in particular, how it is to be structured for a given question.

There are **two ways to structure a comparative essay/ answer** and it will be one of these that you will use in the exam. One is more difficult than the other, but is more conducive to coherent discussion.

#### 1: The text-by-text method:

This is an easier way of writing your comparison because you **discuss one text** and move on to the next. The disadvantage is that your answers will demand of the reader that they remember the points you have made about one text as they read your discussion of another.

You will still be linking the texts together with topic sentences like, 'We see the development of the same theme in Mary Shelley's Frankenstein...'), but, necessarily, the answer will not be as coherent as it could be. This is why it is better to choose the second method which develops **discussion of all texts together**.

#### 2: Feature-by-Feature:

The more difficult but more coherent method is to discuss the two or three texts you have chosen **each time** there is a new topic. With this structure, your topic sentences will bring the two or three texts you are discussing together **under the topic to be discussed**; some feature of the mode you have chosen to explore; a theme or issue, a feature of cultural context, a feature of general vision and viewpoint.

You will structure your answer, then, **not** by taking the texts themselves as your topics but by comparing them once your topic sentence has introduced **some feature of the mode of comparison** you are discussing. The answer will now develop, not by discussing one text and then moving on to another, but by discussing them all **each time a new topic is introduced**.

For example, in the 2021 theme or issue question above, students were asked to 'compare the insights' they gained into a theme or issue. This was to be focussed on moments when 'one central character' made one or more 'key decisions'.

A student might be tempted to structure an answer by writing about the principle characters one at a time; the **text-by-text** method. To be able to bring the texts closer together, however, it would be better to discuss the texts together with a number of themes being the topics.

For each topic, then, in your **prewriting**, you would note the key moments from each text you would be referring to in the discussion of each theme. For the 2021 question, on the theme of nature/ the natural order, then, for the novel's *Days Without End* and *Frankenstein*, you might plan the first topic of your answer as follows:

# Topic 1: the theme of nature/ the natural order as established culturally Comparison/ Contrast:

Key decision in **Days Without End**: in Thomas McNulty's transition to identifying as a woman, he and John Cole adopt Winona; transgresses

traditional conceptions of what constitutes a family.

**Insight:** parental care/ motherhood does not have to be determined by biological gender

Key decision in **Frankenstein**: the creation of "new" life from dead bodies transgresses the traditional view of man's limited role in the natural order **Insight:** the dangers of modern man's scientific thinking

**The contrast:** in *Days Without End*, transgression of cultural boundaries is a positive

v

in Frankenstein, transgression of cultural boundaries is a positive

# **The Prescribed Poetry**

#### **Choosing Which Poets to Study:**

In the exam, you will be given one question on each of five of the poets prescribed for 2025. There are 8 altogether as noted in <u>chapter three</u>.

Up to 2021, 4 questions, each on one of the poets had been given. This meant that, in order to guarantee being able to answer a question on a students had studied, they had to study a minimum of 5 poets.

Due to Covid-19, in 2021 the number of questions went up to **five**. This has meant that the minimum went down to **4 poets**. It is yet to be confirmed that there will be 5 questions on the 2026 exam but there is no suggestion so far that there will be any change.

After the LC exams in June 2024, it will be worth trying to **predict** what poets might be included on the exam in 2026.

#### Getting to Know the Poems:

A poem is a text, a use of language, and so it must communicate meaning. But it is considered **poetry** because it does so in a way that makes it distinct from a **non-poetic** text. It doesn't just communicate a meaning where the language used is **throwaway**, in the sense that it doesn't matter what words are used, and how they are used, as long as the meaning gets from A to B.

We can, to some extent, put the meaning of a poem in our own words; we can **paraphrase** it. A good poem, however, makes us feel that in doing so we lose an essential part of its meaning; the **experience** of reading it. We feel that **the specific words** the poet used, and the **specific way** they **arranged them on the page** make for something unique. We feel that **only those words** in that order give us an experience that is part of the text's overall meaning.

The meaning of a poem, we understand, cannot be reduced simply to what it says. As an **aesthetic** use of language, as we described it in <u>chapter five</u>, part of its meaning is **the experience** we have of reading it.

Metaphorically speaking, it is language shaped into an artistic "object". If we want to fully understand it, then, we need to look, not just at what it says, but pay close attention also to how it says it.

When we analyse a poem, then, we break it down into the **two parts** which together make it a meaningful whole:

1: the WHAT; the meaning we talk about in terms of theme, sometimes referred to as its **content** 

**2:** the **HOW**; how this meaning is communicated; we look at things like imagery, the rhythm of the lines, rhyming patterns...This is sometimes referred to as the poem's **form**.

The meaning of a poem, then, is the **sum** of these two parts; a **whole** that is greater than either one by itself.

#### The Argument of a Poem:

Poems do not use **argumentative** language, but they have an "**argument**"; they say something about a theme. There may be a **persuasive** element to them if they present us with a moral issue but they will, more often than not, develop a perspective on a theme or issue **indirectly**. Poems, more than any other genre of literature, will **show** us what they mean more than **tell** us. However, **a perspective on a theme or issue** will emerge through what it says and/or through what is expressed through its form (rhyme, rhythm, and so on), the language used (metaphor, personification...), and the imagery.

#### Showing and Telling in Shakespeare's Sonnet 60:

Sometimes we get **a little bit of both**; the indirect *showing* and the direct *telling*. In Shakespeare's, 'Like as the waves make towards the pebbl'd shore' (Sonnet 60), for example, this first line begins the articulation of something we could say in plain language without images of waves and pebbles; namely, that time, by small but inexorable increments, compels us forward until we reach the end of our lives. The poet **shows** us this meaning in the imagery. The the next line, which completes the simile, however, also **tells** us how the imagery is to be understood: 'So do our minutes hasten to their end'.

There is a sense in which, through the analogy with waves washing on a shore with pebbles, that we "see" and "hear" this truth about existence. Shakespeare chose a very powerful image to **show** us what he also **tells** us.

He is also careful with his choice of **words**. If the waves 'make' toward the shore, we are given the impression that time advances purposefully.

We sense that it is being personified. Later in the poem, in fact, we see that this is precisely what Shakespeare had in mind; we are referred to time as a giver and taker: 'Time that gave doth now his gift confound'.

When we make the poems **content** and its **form** distinct from one another, we see that there is a whole lot more to it than its "argument". We show that our paraphrase of it cannot be a substitute for the articulation of the poem itself. The *expression* of that argument becomes part of the poem's meaning; **form** becomes inseparable from **content**.

The poem has an implicit **argument** (what it is saying abut a theme such as time and mortality in Sonnet 60) that we can put in our own words as a preliminary to appreciating the whole the poet has composed by making that **WHAT** inseparable from the **HOW**.

The **argument of Shakespeare's sonnet** can be observed in relation to its principle theme of mortality. It "argues" that, although we cannot stop the progress of time which take us to the end of our lives, there is some kind of immortality in literature; his 'verse'. That 'hope,' at least, is expressed in the closing couplet of the poem which is addressed to someone the speaker cares deeply for:

And yet to times in hope my verse shall stand, Praising thy worth, despite his cruel hand.

# Studying the LC Poetry:

You will find interpretations of the poems in your textbooks but in order to deepen your understanding of them, you should write your own **summaries**. These should not be too long so that you can look them over when you need to refresh your memory. These summaries can be divided into the **WHAT** and **HOW** categories. Below, is an example; a summary of Seamus Heaney's poem 'The Forge'. I have located it, according to the period of its publication, in the context of the other poems prescribed.

# 'The Forge' by Seamus Heaney (1939-2013) Summary: The What and the How

1969, from Door into the Dark: The Forge, Bogland
1972, from Wintering Out: The Tollund Man
1975, from North: Sunlight, A Constable Calls
1979, from Field Work: The Harvest Bow, The Skunk
1984, from Station Island: The Underground
1991, from Seeing Things: The Pitchfork, Lightenings viii. (The annals say ...)
1996, from The Spirit Level: A Call, Postscript
2006, from District and Circle: Tate's Avenue

**Biographical Context:** In 'The Forge' (1969), we see a number of uses of language that Heaney employs in the service of presenting a setting that would have been commonplace for him. He grew up in rural Northern Ireland in the 1940's and '50's on the family farm. His poetry typically presents the landscapes and people of his experience there; his father, Patrick, for example, and figures such as this poem presents a brief portrait of.

A typical Heaney poem will present a landscape ('Bogland,' 'Postscript'), an everyday activity ('Sunlight,' 'The Forge'), a personal moment of reflection ('The Skunk'), a historic moment ('The Tollund Man,' 'Lightenings viii'), or an impactful childhood experience ('A Constable Calls').

# The Argument Of The Poem WHAT it says, asks, implies about a chosen theme

# Themes: the transience of life, the poet's vocation, art v materialism, spirituality

The transience of life: the setting establishes a historical point of transition between an Ireland of the horse and cart as it is being surpassed by the automobile

- a gradual decline in demand for the blacksmith's work; he **[Q]** 'recalls a clatter/ Of hoofs where traffic is flashing in rows'.

**The poet's vocation:** although it is not expressed directly, we see in Heaney's use of language that the blacksmith's work is presented as a metaphor for his work as a poet; the blacksmith **[Q]** 'expends himself in shape and music'.

- in the blacksmith, Heaney sees a resilience that is inspiring to him as a poet

#### Art v materialism:

- the intrinsic value of people, places, and things in an overly materialistic world; the poet's work is to be equal to such value as art

- the poem can be seen as a response to our tendency, in an overly materialistic world, to overlook the intellectual, emotional, aesthetic, and spiritual dimensions of our lives

#### Spirituality:

- seen in the implicit analogy that sees them both working to bring 'shape, and 'music' to their respective materials of iron and language. For the reader too, there is perhaps the inspiration to find equilibrium on the threshold we inhabit between the knowable world on the outside, and the immaterial internal world where the imagination has the power to "see" in the dark.

# HOW Heaney means what he means, says what he says...

Setting

- commonplace setting; where Heaney grew up in in Northern Ireland the blacksmith was a familiar figure

- the terms by which the forge is described express the poem's themes rather than direct statement; the anvil is [Q] 'Horned as a unicorn'...

# Tone

- the speaker is withdrawn and unemotional

- in this detachment, however, we sense the speaker's reverence for the blacksmith as he quietly observes and considers the work he does

- the detail about how the blacksmith sees the world does not suggest nostalgia. That the world is surpassing his way of life is dismissed. This gives us an unsentimental tone.

# **Use of Language**

#### Use of descriptive language:

- the **[Q]** 'axles' and 'iron hoops' are described respectively as 'old' and 'rusting'.

- we understand the significance of the deterioration of these things; they are items the blacksmith has not been able to sell in a rapidly changing world

#### **Use of Metaphor:**

The poet finds the blacksmith's self-assured dedication to this timeless work inspiring. He sees in the blacksmith a determination and resilience that he will hope to apply in his own work with language. This is made implicit, once again, through Heaney's careful choice of descriptive terms. The blacksmith **[Q]** 'expends himself in shape and music'. Heaney uses language here that **metaphorically** equates the work of the poet with that of the blacksmith. It is to the work itself that this inspirational figure is given, an ethic for the poet to aspire toward.

Literally, the blacksmith gives form to the iron, and his hammering reverberates with the **[Q]** 'short-pitched ring' heard from outside. Metaphorically, however, these words are applicable to the work of the poet who brings 'shape' to language through the kinds of aural correspondence between words we are accustomed to hearing in poetry, some examples of which we will observe below such as consonance and sibilance in lines 11 and 12. The poet also brings a 'music' to language in the rhymes and rhythms he "beats" out of it.

#### **Use of Prepositions:**

- outside and inside the forge made distinct

- contrasting prepositions at the start of each line where they are each paused using a coma; **[Q]** 'Outside, old axles.../ Inside,...'.

- use of a semi-colon at the end of line 2; and both lines have an equal measure of five stressed syllables so that they read in complementary measure. Lastly, they are in rhyming couplet form; end-rhyming 'rusting' with 'ring'.

# Understated Language/ the art of excluded meanings:

He is dismissive of the changes he sees; he **[Q]** 'grunts and goes in' without further comment. We sense too that he does not concern himself with appearances or the opinions of others; [he sometimes appears at the door of the forge **[Q]** 'leather-aproned, hairs in his nose'. Also, we see how he **[Q]** 'leans out on the jamb,' his position and posture suggesting someone who does not venture out of the forge too often.

# Imagery

# Symbolism in Contrast between inside and outside:

Outside, the world appears to be leaving the blacksmith behind. The interior of the forge, however, becomes a sanctuary taking on spiritual significance with its **[Q]** 'anvil' described as an 'altar'.

**Outside:** the transient passage of time: the cars go by in 'rows,' an image that highlights this linear bearing.

**Inside:** given a centred (non-linear) orientation; the **[Q]** 'anvil' is imagined 'somewhere in the centre' of the forge. This locates the work of the blacksmith in a place that appears to transcend time. The work done there is being given sacramental significance; the **[Q]** 'altar' is the centrepiece of a Christian church.

# Symbolism that is suggested in the materials the blacksmith works with:

The blacksmith returns **[Q]** 'To beat real iron out, to work the bellows'. These details too are carefully chosen for their transformative power. In premodern cultures, such as ancient Greece, all matter was conceived to be composed, in varying proportions, of four elements; earth, water, air, fire.

With the iron representing earth, this frame of reference elevates the blacksmith's work. It is conceived as creative at a most fundamental level; there is fire, represented in the 'sparks' that fly occasionally when he strikes the hot iron on the anvil, and we hear the sound of these elements come together in the [Q] 'hiss when a new shoe toughens in water'. The 'bellows' indicate the element of air.

#### Symbolism: the circle

- A circle is a universal symbol with a variety of meanings associated with spirituality; eternity, wholeness, timelessness or transcendence of time, God, and more.

- the anvil is **[Q]** 'Set there immovable'; encourages this spiritual connotation; transcendence of the transience of life represented in the world outside

**Key Object:** the anvil; poet must find equilibrium between the imagination and reality

- poet's task; to maintain equilibrium between **[Q]** 'the imagined and most real', as he puts it in a poem from The Spirit Level, 27 years later.

- the anvil; used to locate that equilibrium in a poetic image

- He can see no more than the **[Q]** 'unpredictable fantail of sparks' lighting the interior momentarily. Consequently, he is obliged to imagine it standing **[Q]** 'somewhere in the centre'.

- inspires a simile; he pictures the anvil **[Q]** 'Horned as a unicorn'. Against this imaginative transformation, the opposite end of the anvil presents the unalterable, mathematical truth that it is 'square'.

- the creative centre that he anticipates will require finding equilibrium between these bearings.

- the anvil is **[Q]** 'at one end square' (emphasis added) denoting extremity, and giving the impression of a scale running between the imagined and most real. He will metaphorically strike at the centre where they are in equilibrium.

# The darkness of the forge:

- a metaphor for the interior place of the mind and the transformative power of the imagination to be found there. Poet and blacksmith are equal in this invisible reality as they are in the impermanence they share that is visibly clear outside the forge in the **[Q]** 'rusting' that connotes the gradual passage of time that displaces us all.

# Use of Form

# Onomatopoeia:

Heaney diverts our attention to the sounds made as the door to the forge closes. Unequivocally there is a [Q] 'slam' of the door, and a 'flick' of the latch that holds it closed. We see here an aural echo in the the broad vowel sound ending in the soft 'm' of the first word, and the tightening of the same around the harder 'k' consonant. Once again, Heaney chooses words carefully;

in this instance, to give us something of the sound of the actions they signify (onomatopoeia). In the combined impression of the action they observe, though they describe the familiar and the mundane, they also carry the weight of an impression, rather than a direct statement, of confident selfdetermination, and dedication.

- the hammer's **[Q]** 'short-pitched ring': the three stressed syllables in close proximity reproduce the repeated beats on the iron. Their sound is imagined through the tightening of vowels from the 'o' in short through the 'i' in the last two words as if the first blow is lighter than the second two.

# Template for Studying a Poem:

The analysis of Kavanagh's poem gives us **a template** which we can apply to any poem. To begin studying a new one, we can write down the headings which we will then begin to write notes under and/or brief discussions on significant points of interest:

1: The WHAT of the POEM; its "argument", themes

2: The HOW of the Poem Setting Tone Use of Language Imagery Use of Form

As we will see in the next section, this template will be what we use to organise our prewriting in the **Unseen Poem** question of Paper 2.

# The Format of the Prescribed Poetry Question:

In the Prescribed Poetry section of the exam paper, you will be given **5 questions**; one on five of the poets prescribed for 2026. You will be required to answer one question and each one has a single question format.

Once again, your objective is to incorporate into your answer a strong impression of your understanding of how the two components of the poems you are familiar with work together; the **WHAT** and the **HOW**. Below, in the five questions from 2024, I have indicated where the questions direct the students to each of these.

# 1. W.B. Yeats

"Yeats utilises powerful imagery (**HOW**) to explore fascinating contradictions (**WHAT**) that are central to his poetry."

Discuss this statement developing your response with reference to the poetry by W.B. Yeats on your Leaving Certificate English course.

# 2. Eiléan Ní Chuilleanáin

"Ní Chuilleanáin uses evocative imagery (**HOW**) to produce poems that often reveal meaningful insights about the nature of life (**WHAT**)."

Discuss this statement developing your response with reference to the poetry by Eiléan Ní Chuilleanáin on your Leaving Certificate English course.

## 3. Emily Dickinson

"Dickinson's style (**HOW**) allows her to explore the complexity of a variety of abstract ideas (**WHAT**) in a concrete and accessible manner."

Discuss this statement developing your response with reference to the poetry by Emily Dickinson on your Leaving Certificate English course.

## 4. Sylvia Plath

"The dramatic imagery (**HOW**) we encounter in Plath's poetry reveals her to be an insightful social (**WHAT**) commentator."

Discuss this statement developing your response with reference to the poetry by Sylvia Plath on your Leaving Certificate English course.

## 5. Seamus Heaney

"Heaney uses a deceptively simple style (**HOW**) to convey profound observations about people and places (**WHAT**)."

Discuss this statement developing your response with reference to the poetry by Seamus Heaney on your Leaving Certificate English course.

As you can see, most of the time, the prescribed poetry question takes the form of a **statement**, followed by instructions for the student to 'discuss' it with reference to it. You should think in terms of an **argumentative** essay when preparing your answer; you want to **defend** the **thesis** given in the statement. In fact the question is giving you the most important component of the introduction to such an essay; the **thesis statement**.

On Yeats in 2024 above, **the thesis** is that 'fascinating contradictions' are a prominent feature of the the poetry, and that Yeats uses 'powerful imagery' to 'explore' them.

This is not always the format. In 2023, for example, the question on Patrick Kavanagh took the form of **a question**:

How successfully, in your opinion, does Kavanagh employ both a lyrical style and a celebratory tone (**HOW**) to elevate the mundane realism of life (**WHAT**) in his work?

Develop your response with reference to the poetry by Patrick Kavanagh on your Leaving Certificate English course.

In this **question format**, you are also given a thesis to defend; that Kavanagh is or is not 'successful' in his use of 'a lyrical style and a celebratory tone to elevate the mundane realism of life in his work'

Answering either of these, you would choose **up to five poems** as your topics, and in each case you would **defend the thesis** using the **point-quote-defend formula**.

In other question format examples, you might be asked to **agree or disagree** with a perspective on one the poets; an example from 2023 on the poetry of Adrienne Rich:

To what extent do you **agree or disagree** that Adrienne Rich makes effective use of a diverse range of imagery and an engaging style (**HOW**) to explore structures and values in society which she considers to be negative or destructive (**WHAT**)?

Develop your response with reference to the poems by Adrienne Rich on your Leaving Certificate English course.

# The Unseen Poem

# Prewriting the Unseen Poem Answer:

The only way to study for the Unseen Poem question is to practise answering **past exam questions**. We can develop a strategy for analysing a poem we have never read before ('unseen') by organising our **prewriting**. What we do in our practise will be what we will do in the exam:

1: on roughwork paper, write down the headings that will organise our observations of the poem into two components; the **WHAT** and the **HOW** of poems we have looked at in the prescribed poetry previously

**2:** take notes as you read the poem on the **WHAT**; what its "argument" is in your own words; what it says about the main themes

**3:** take notes on the **HOW** of the Poem under the following headings:

Setting Tone Use of Language Imagery Use of Form

**4:** structure your answer in the exam using the **three parts of an essay**; introduction, body paragraphs, conclusion

**5**: take notes under the relevant headings; (thesis statement, essay map (of points you will include), conclusion), choosing your points from your summary.

# The Unseen Poem Questions:

You are given a choice of two questions; you must answer either question 1 or question 2.

## **Question 1 Format:**

As you will see, from the examples below from past papers, **question 1 is in two parts**. In most cases, one of these will be quite **a general question** such as asking you for your **'impression**' of someone or something, to point out **'characteristics**' of something or someone, or something similar; the other question will ask you to **focus specifically on some formal aspect** of the poem; imagery, language, tone... Note, however, that in some questions, as in 2021, both questions focus on the **HOW** of the poem; its form.

## 2024:

(a) Do you think the poet uses **tone** in an effective way in this poem? Support your answer with reference to the poem. (10)

(b) In your view, what **characteristics** of the grandfather emerge during the course of this poem? Support your answer with reference to the poem.

## 2023:

(a) What impression do you form of the daughter in this poem? (10)

**(b)** Did the poet's **use of language** in the above poem add to its impact on you? Develop two points with reference to the poem in your response. (10)

## 2022:

(a) How **accurately** do you think the poet describes the process of silent reading in the first seventeen lines of the above poem? Support your response with reference to the poem. (10)

(b) In your opinion, does the poet make effective use of **the word 'barn'** to explain how our experiences shape our understanding when we read? Explain your response with reference to the poem. (10)

## 2021:

(a) Do you find **the language** used by the poet in the above poem appealing? Explain your response with reference to the poem. (10)

(b) The poet has not placed **a punctuation mark** at the end of the above poem. In your opinion, what is the effect of this decision on the poem? Explain your response with reference to the poem. (10)

# 2020:

(a) Based on your reading of the above poem, discuss the **impact** and suitability of its title. Develop your response with reference to the poem. (10)

(b) Discuss how the poet brings the above poem to life by **appealing to the senses**. Develop your response with reference to the poem. (10)

Studying for Paper 2

## Question 2 Format:

Question 2 will focus primarily on either theme (2023) or form (2024) but you will be always aiming to answer by making clear how these are two parts of the whole; the **WHAT** and the **HOW**. You are reminded about this in the stipulation about how to 'develop' or 'support' your 'answer' or 'response'.

## 2024:

To what extent do you believe that the poet's **use of language** is clever and creative in this poem? Make detailed reference to the poem in support of your answer.

## 2023:

"Guest Room is a fascinating exploration of the complex relationship between mother and daughter." Do you agree or disagree with this statement? Develop your response with reference to both the **subject matter** and **style** of the poem.

## 2022:

"Thomas Lux makes effective use of simple **language** and concrete **imagery** to explore complex, abstract **ideas** throughout the above poem."

Discuss the extent to which you agree or disagree with the above statement. Support your discussion with reference to both the content and language of the poem.

## 2021:

Based on your reading of the above poem, explain the reasons **why you find it** to be serious or amusing or both. Support your response with reference to the poet's **use of language** and **the subject matter** of the poem.

## 2020:

Discuss the poet's **use of language** in the above poem to convey various aspects of his experience with the crow. Develop your response with reference to the poem.

# Eight: Answering Paper 2



## Marking Scheme and Recommended Timing:

Section I: The Single Text	Section II: The Comparative Study	Section III: Poetry
		Two Questions:
	One question on one of	A: Unseen Poem:
	comparative modes: Theme or	Question 1 (two parts)
	Issue, Cultural Context, General	20 marks
	Vision and Viewpoint	
One question on one text;		OR
novel or play	Question 1 (two parts):	
	70 marks (30 + 40)	Question 2
60 marks	01	20 marks
	OR	D. Duesewiked Destruct
	Question 2:	B: Prescribed Poetry One question:
	70 Marks	50 marks
	70 Marks	50 marks
		Total: 70 marks
	Total: 200 marks	
E	Exam Time: 3 hrs, 20 mins (200 mins)	
Timing: 55 mins	Timing: 1 hour	Timing: 20 + 45: 1 hour 5 mins
Preparati	on (reading over/ selecting questions): Reading over answers: 5 mins	15 mins

English **Paper 1** is the first Leaving Cert exam, and is held in the morning; **Paper 2** is held the day after in the afternoon. The exams begin in the first or second week of June.

## In 2024:

Paper 1, June 5th; 09:30 to 12:20 Paper 2, June 6th; 14:00 to 17:20

#### **Answering Paper 2**

# Argumentation/ Objectivity in Paper 2:

The general rule for answering questions in Paper 2 is that you should always be aiming to write in **an objective, impersonal** (argumentative rather than persuasive) style in discussing the prescribed material. This should be your aim even when asked for your personal response; see example in the comparative question from 2021 <u>below</u>.

The simplest way to remember this is, if you want to sustain an objective, argumentative style, **don't emphasise the first person perspective** ("I"); don't use phrases that make it sound like it is just your opinion; 'In my opinion...,' 'I believe...,' 'I think that...'. Even if this kind of language is used in the question, as in the 2021 example, it only weakens your argument to use it too often, and if it can be avoided, it is better.

A carefully written answer on Shakespeare's *Macbeth*, then, would use the first of these sentences as a thesis statement in the introduction:

The final act of Shakespeare's *Macbeth* is nihilistic.

I think the final act of Shakespeare's Macbeth is nihilistic.

Since it is **debatable** and not fact, the thesis of the first sentence is just as much **an opinion** as the second. It reads, however, *like* an observation of objective fact because it doesn't draw attention to itself as an opinion as does the second by including the **first person perspective** ('I think...'). With this style giving this impression of objectivity, your answers will be stronger than if you repeatedly remind the examiner that you are giving an opinion.

In Section II, the comparative study questions can ask for your personal response. How the text made you **feel**, however, will be of no critical value if its articulation is not part of a discussion of the relative comparative mode.

It will only be an adequate answer if you have presented evidence based on your **knowledge and understanding of texts**. Only then will your personal response have critical value. The reader will be convinced that it reflects the experience of most readers.

Answering Paper 2

# Section I, The Single Text:

None of the questions in Section I will ask you to express your **feelings** about the novel or play you have studied. Below are some questions from past papers on Shakespeare's *Macbeth*. You will see that they ask if you **agree** or **disagree**; for opinions and reasons for them; for your insights (not feelings); for you to **discuss** statements/ reasons you give. It is always essential that you provide support for your discussion points through reference to the text. The key words are **highlighted**.

## 2014:

(i) "Macbeth's relationships with other characters can be seen primarily as power struggles which prove crucial to the outcome of the play."

**Discuss** the above **statement** in relation to at least two of Macbeth's relationships with other characters. Support your answer with suitable reference to the play, Macbeth.

OR

(ii) "Throughout the play, Macbeth, Shakespeare makes effective use of a variety of dramatic techniques that evoke a wide range of responses from the audience."

Discuss this view with reference to at least two dramatic techniques used by Shakespeare in the play. Support your answer with suitable reference to the text.

## 2019:

(i) **Discuss the reasons** why, in your opinion, Shakespeare's use of a variety of horrific, bizarre and unbelievable elements does or does not heighten the tragic intensity of his play, Macbeth. Develop your answer with reference to the text.

OR

(ii) **Discuss** how Shakespeare's use of language, including imagery, plays an important part in developing our understanding of one of the following aspects of his play, Macbeth: themes; characterisation; setting and atmosphere.

Develop your answer with reference to the text.

## Answering Paper 2

## 2023:

(i) "Macbeth's unstable and tragic identity is shaped by a variety of ambiguities and complexities in his character."

**Discuss this statement**, developing your response with reference to Shakespeare's play, Macbeth.

OR

(ii) "Shakespeare makes effective use of Lady Macbeth and the Witches to heighten the dramatic impact of his play Macbeth in a variety of ways."

**Discuss this statement**, developing your response with reference to Shakespeare's play, Macbeth.

## The Single Text Answer:

We have noted in the previous chapter that it is crucial to organise your thoughts before beginning to write an answer. You will be best prepared to do this if you have practised the **prewriting method** as part of your study strategy. You will be ready, then, to begin prewriting in the exam by taking notes under the headings we have noted:

# Introduction

1:Lead-in

- 2: Thesis statement (given in question)
- 3: Essay Map (the topics/ poems you will explore)

# **Body Paragraphs**

Topic 1 (notes on what you will write using the point-quote-defend formula) Topic 2...

[...]

Topic 5

# Conclusion

**Summary Thesis Statement** (a rewriting of the TS and EM from your introduction)

Clincher: a summing up/ final thought on the poems and thesis

Your prewriting outline is your guide as you proceed to write your answer. As such, you should keep glancing back at it, and add to it as things about the text come to mind.

# Section II, The Comparative Study:

Questions in Section II, may encourage you to write in the first person but, again, what is crucial is that you articulate a **discussion**. In one question of Section II (The Comparative Study) in 2021, students were asked to 'discuss' whether or not they found a theme or issue 'emotionally engaging'.

Even though an answer to this question would detail the student's personal response, it still has to be **argumentative** rather than **persuasive**; appealing to the reader by **discussion** of and **reference** to the texts rather than dwelling on how they were emotionally engaging.

As we have observed in the <u>previous chapter</u>, we need to bring the three texts together in the comparative study answer by comparing **key moments** in them in relation to the mode we have chosen. In 2026: theme or issue, cultural context, or General Vision and Viewpoint.

The prewriting for the answer, then, will require that you remind yourself of what these moments are and take notes accordingly using **a simple table** as shown <u>previously</u>.

With this table in mind, you should also use the **outline of an essay**, as applied also in the answer to the single text, to prewrite your answer and have a representation of it in notes at hand for guidance.

### Prewriting the Comparative Study Answer:

1: write down the headings you would use to write an essay based on the question: Introduction (in 3 parts), body paragraphs...

Begin by prewriting your introduction in notes under the relevant headings

2: with the **feature-by-feature** structure in mind as we have described it <u>previously</u>, prewrite the answer by writing down notes on the features of the mode you have chosen. You will have up to five topics, each being one of your chosen features; for example, five themes that allow you to compare the texts if you have chosen the theme or issue mode.

**3**: take notes on how the two or three texts will be compared on the relevant topic (a feature of the comparative mode) for each topic you have chosen

**4:** prewrite components of your answer such as thesis statement, topic sentences, clincher

# Section III, Question I; The Unseen Poem:

Answering the Unseen Poem will be precisely what you have **practised** answering past LC questions as we have observed in the previous chapter:

**1:** analysing the poem with prewriting notes to clarify the **WHAT** and the **HOW** as discussed in the previous chapter

**2:** prewriting an answer by taking notes on introduction, body paragraphs, and conclusion; the basic structure of an essay as discussed in <u>chapter four</u>

# Section III, Question 2, The Prescribed Poetry:

As noted of the questions in Section I, the prescribed poetry question you choose will give you the thesis statement you are asked to 'discuss'; most questions are in the 'statement' format but can also be questions.

As with the answer to the single text question, your *feelings* about the poems you have studied will be of no critical value unless they are supported using the point-quote-defend strategy. Moreover, you should not be expressing how you feel about the poems unless explicitly asked to do so.

Your strategy for answering the prescribed poetry question, then, will be the same as that applied to the single text. Begin by **prewriting** your answer by taking notes under the headings we have noted:

## Introduction

1:Lead-in

- 2: Thesis statement (given in question)
- 3: Essay Map (the topics/ poems you will explore)

## **Body Paragraphs**

**Topic 1**/ Poem 1: notes on what you will write using the point-quote-defend formula)

**Topic 2**/ Poem 2...

[...]

Topic 5/ Poem 5...

## Conclusion

**Summary Thesis Statement:** a rewrite of the TS and EM from your introduction

**Clincher:** a summing up/ final thought on the poems and thesis

Your **prewriting outline** is your guide as you proceed to write your answer. As such, you should keep glancing back at it, and add to it as things about the poems come to mind.

